ISCTE O Business School Instituto Universitário de Lisboa

HOW MULTISENSORY EXPERIENCES IN VIRTUAL ENVIRONMENTS AFFECT INTENTION TO RETURN: THE ROLE OF COGNITIVE FLEXIBILITY, SENSE OF POWER AND PERSONALITY TRAITS

Joana Andrade Dias Posser Villar

Dissertation submitted as partial requirement for the conferral of master's in marketing

Supervisors:

Prof. Doutor João Guerreiro, Assistant Professor, ISCTE Business School, Department of Marketing, Operation and General Management

Prof. Doutora Sandra Maria Correira Loureiro, Associate Professor with aggregation, ISCTE Business School, Departamento de Marketing, Operações e Gestão Geral

October 2019

HOW MULTISENSORY EXPERIENCES IN VIRTUAL ENVIRONMENTS AFFECT INTENTION TO RETURN: THE ROLE OF COGNITIVE FLEXIBILITY SENSE OF POWER AND PERSONALITY TRAITS	
ISCTE 🔇 Business School Instituto Universitário de Lisboa	

Joana Andrade Dias Posser Villar

Abstract

The technology advances made every day are creating opportunities for business. Virtual Reality has been the focus of several studies. However, virtual reality has been stated to fail in implementing some senses, such as tactile, smell and taste. In this study, we cross two sensory experiences, one with the senses of sight and sound and the other with the sight, sound and smell. The experience takes place in a Virtual Café and measures the impact it has on the intention to return. The choice of the different sensory experiences was based on the concepts of proximal and distal senses. For the purposes of the study, this dissertation further analyses the concepts of Sense of Power and Cognitive Flexibility and Personality traits is introduced as a moderator in this relationship. The type of sensory experience is introduced and used as a moderator on the relationship between Sense of Power and Intention to Return (behavior).

This study concludes that multisensory experiences in a virtual environment, have no impact on return intentions. However, this study also concludes that cognitive flexibility has a positive impact on sense of power and that personality traits plays as a moderator in the relationship between the two variables. Furthermore, this study findings suggested the notion that senses can be psychologically more proximal or distal based on the maximum physical distance typically required for a stimulus to be sensed also applies to virtual reality environments.

Keywords: Virtual reality, multisensory, psychological distance, sense of power, cognitive flexibility, intention to return, personality traits

JEL classification system: M31; M37

Resumo

Os avanços tecnológicos concretizados todos os dias estão a criar oportunidades para as empresas. A Realidade Virtual tem sido o foco de diversos estudos. Contudo, a realidade virtual tem sido apontada pela inexistência de alguns sentidos, tais como o tato, cheiro e paladar. Neste estudo, cruzamos duas experiências sensoriais, uma com os sentidos da visão e audição e a outra com os sentidos da visão, audição e cheiro. As experiências tomam lugar num café virtual e mede o impacto que tem na intenção de retorno (intention to return). A escolha das diferentes experiências sensoriais teve por base os conceitos de sentidos mais próximos e sentidos mais distantes. Para o objetivo desta tese, vão ser também analisados os conceitos de sentimento de poder e flexibilidade cognitiva e as características de personalidade são introduzidas como moderador desta relação.

Posto isto, este estudo conclui que as experiências multissensoriais num ambiente virtual, não têm impacto na intenção de retorno. Contudo, o estudo conclui também que a flexibilidade cognitiva tem um impacto positivo no sentimento de poder e ainda que as características de personalidade têm um papel de moderador na relação entre os dois. Além disto, este estudo sugere que a ideia de que os sentidos podem ser psicologicamente mais próximos ou distantes, com base na distância física normalmente necessária para um estímulo ser sentido, também se verifica em ambientes de realidade virtual.

Palavras-chave: realidade virtual, multisensoralidade, distância psicológica, sentimento de poder, flexibilidade cognitiva, intenção de retorno, características de personalidade

Sistema de classificação JEL: M31; M3

Acknowledgements

Throughout the process of writing this thesis, there have been several people who deserve to be mentioned and without their support this project would have not been possible.

In first place, a very special thank you to my supervisors Professor Sandra Loureiro and Professor João Guerreiro. Their constant availability, support and motivation throughout the whole process of the thesis was indispensable. Thank you for never letting me quit.

Further, I would like to thank my parents and my siblings for the constant support in this specific journey. To all my friends and colleagues who took the time to be a part of my experience. To all the students in ISCTE who manage to make time in their studies to help me. A special thanks to the unknow student who for a whole day made her goal to obligate all her colleagues to come and be part of my experience. Whoever you are, thank you so much.

Finally, thank you to my closest ISCTE colleagues. Thank you for being in the same boat as me, for pushing each other and making sure each one of us finished this masters in time and successfully!

Thank you!

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	10
1.1. Research Objectives	11
2. Theoretical Background	14
2.1. Digitalization and e-commerce	14
2.1.1. Perceived Risks of shopping online14	
2.1.2. Emergence of alternative realities15	
2.2. Virtual Reality	16
2.3. Cognitive Flexibility	18
2.4. Sense of Power	19
2.5. Revisit Intentions	21
2.6. Sensory Experience – Psychological distance	22
2.7. Personality Traits	24
3. Methodology	26
3.1. Research Approach	26
3.2. Research Design	26
3.3. Procedure	27
3.4. Measures	28
3.5. Participants	29
4. Results	31
4.1. Descriptive Analysis	31
4.2. Average of Coffees	31
4.3. Sense of Power	32
4.4. Cognitive Flexibility	34
4.5. Personality Traits	36
4.6. Psychological Distance	37
4.7. Intention to Return	39
5. Linear Regressions	41
5.1. Multiple Regression with Sense of Power as Dependent Variable and Cognitive Flexibility as Independent Variable	41
5.2. Multiple Regression with Intention to Return as Dependent Variable and Sense of Power as Independent Variable	43
6. Moderation Analysis	44
6.1. Personality traits as a moderator on the relationship between Cognitive Flexibility as Sense of Power	nd 44

6.2. Sensory Experience as a moderator on the relationship Sense of Power and In Return	tention to 48
7. Conclusion	50
7.1. Findings overview	50
7.2. Discussion	51
7.3. Managerial Implications	55
7.4. Limitations and future research	56
8. References	57
9. Appendix	67

Figure Index

Figure 1 – Proposed Model

Table Index

Table 1- Total Demographics	30
Table 2- Demographics by sensory experience	30
Table 3- Independent Samples Test - Average of coffees	32
Table 4 - means of average of coffees	32
Table 5- Independent Samples Test - sense of power	33
Table 6 - Means, standard deviation and Cronbach's Alpha - sense of power	34
Table 7- Means, standard deviation and Cronbach's Alpha - cognitive flexibility	35
Table 8 - Independent Samples Test - cognitive flexibility	35
Table 9 - Independent Samples Test - personality traits	36
Table 10 - Means, standard deviation and Cronbach's Alpha - personality traits	37
Table 11- Independent Samples Test - psychological distance	38
Table 12 - Means and Standard Deviation - psychological distance	39
Table 13 - Independent Samples Test - intention to return	39
Table 14 - Means, standard deviation and Cronbach's Alpha - Intention to return	40
Table 15 - Multiple regression with sense of power as dependent variable and cognitive	
flexibility as independent variable	41
Table 16 - Multiple Regression Analysis with of Intention to Return as Dependent Variable	e
and Sense of Power as Independent Variable	43
Table 17 – Moderation analysis total results – Sense of power as dependent variable and	
personality traits and cognitive flexibility as predictors.	45
Table 18 – Moderation analysis by sensory experience – Sense of power as dependent	
variable and personality traits and cognitive flexibility as predictors	46
Table 19 - Division by personality traits and the impact of sensory experience	47
Table 20 – Moderation analysis total results – Intention to return as dependent variable and	1
psychological distance and sense of power as predictors	49

18

1. Introduction

The physical surroundings and particularly the physical environment, was referred by Biner (1992) as being able to affect people in physiological ways particularly for service businesses such as hotels, restaurants, professional offices, banks, retail stores, and hospitals.

As Lindstrom (2008) stated, a singular brand must always be improved and maximized in order to offer a full emotional and sensorial experience. It is not enough to visually present a product or service in an advertisement. It is important to associate a sound, music for example, or words and powerful symbols. According to the author, the combination of visual and audible stimulus has a much bigger impact but to keep a strong brand, it is necessary to activate consumer's five senses. In his book Brand Sense, Lindstrom highlights that vision and hearing are not enough to impress consumers. The touch, smell and flavors are crucial in the construction of a truly relevant brand. The usage of the five senses and a multisensory atmospheric retail is also very important and have an huge impact on shopping behavior in both cognitive and affective manners (Spence, Puccinelli, Grewal, and Roggeveen, 2014).

Spence (2002) stated that a big part of the best experiences people have lived in life are inherently multisensory. Mattila and Wirtz (2001) added that the more the atmospherics in a store are multisensorial congruent the more interesting and pleasant they will be characterized. The same is thought to happen for online environments (Dinh et al., 1999; Feng, Dey, and Lindeman, 2016; Liu, Hannum, and Simons, 2018; Obrist et al., 2016; Spence et al., *2017 cited in* Petit, Velasco and Spence, 2019)

There has been an emergence of new multisensory devices that give customers the chance to stimulate their senses over the Internet. Even though these technologies are not yet fully commercialized, they allow the possibility to dream of an online atmosphere more connected to the senses (Petit, Velasco and Spence, 2019). Along with other technological developments, Augmented Reality and Virtual reality are two relevant computer-based technologies that have been on the process of developing and are being used more each day by the top companies around the world. Focusing on retailing, virtual reality can bring numerous advantageous for companies and consumers. An increasing number of traditional

companies use virtual technologies to support and improve their marketing techniques and are adopting multi-channel strategies for retailing (Saren et al. 2013; Bradford et al. 2017; Müller-Lankenau and Wehmeyer 2005 *cited in* Lau and Lee 2018). The use of Stereo VR, for example, in retailing is expected by Smolentsev et al. (2017) to distort the line between real shopping and online shopping due to its features such as interactivity, immersion in experiences and the sensory feedback.

1.1. Research Objectives

In the rapidly evolving retail landscape, with newer technologies, newer business models and big data/predictive analytics, the shopping process is on the way to great improvements into an unknown "shopping realm". In this digital age, customers are more empowered and informed than ever before. They demand better, cheaper and most of all more efficient products and services (Conrad, 2017). With the increase of demand from consumers, companies need to make changes, to evolve. To be able to respond to consumers' needs and beyond.

The company's responses for these demanding consumers, among other things, can focus on technology development, such as the Internet of things, virtual/augmented reality, artificial intelligence, and robots/drones/driverless vehicles (Deloitte, 2016). It can focus on sensory marketing or in developing ways to capture consumers attentions through the usage of the five senses because today, the present brands in market attract current and potential customers on sensory basis. As Hulten, (2017) stated, it is obvious that the five human senses should be the foundations of all global multi-sensory brand-experiences.

Finally, another aspect that company's need to take into account are its customers individual' differences. In a company, the principal goal of a seller is to increase and sustain customer satisfaction, and to do so it is necessary to know how customers are expected to respond to certain marketing actions (Rexha, 2000). Each individual will most likely have different responses to a certain stimulus. These responses can be triggered through their personality traits, for example. The influence of personality traits on satisfaction, loyalty, and word of mouth have been studied by Hanzaee and Farzaneh (2012) and indicate that agreeable people tend to be more satisfied and committed to the relationship with a brand. The customer's capability in adapting to circumstances, also known as cognitive flexibility which Dennis &

Vander Wal (2010: 242) defined as "the ability to switch cognitive sets to adapt to changing environmental stimuli" are also important factors. The store environment, the atmosphere and the type of brand communications are also factor to take into account and that can have an effect on consumers perception of power. For example, Madzharov, Block and Morrin (2015) studied how ambient scents affect consumers' spatial perceptions in retail environments, which in turn influence customers' feelings of power.

Madzharov, Block and Morrin (2015) studied how ambient scents in retail environments influence customers' sense of power. Elder, Schlosser, Poor, and Xu (2017) focused their study on how imagined senses can be psychologically proximal or distal based on the actual physical distance that is usually required for a stimulus to be sensed. Studies on VR have been focused on engagement and interactivity (Mollen and Wilson, 2010), telepresence (Steuer, 1992), purchase behavior (Waterlander, Jiang, Steenhuis and Mhurchu, 2015), experience (Novak, Hoffman, Donna, and Yung, 2000) among others. Even with the development of studies and improvements made every day, there is still some gaps in VR. Lombart et al. (2019) highlighted that even with actual technologies and the possibility of interaction with virtual objects in VR, it remains still quite difficult to replicate the tactile sensation that a person has when in touch with real objects. Berg and Vance (2017) stated that there is a wide variety of display technologies which purpose is to deliver information to people's senses, mainly sight, sound and touch. Regarding smell and taste, this type of displays has received less attention comparatively. When it comes to retail, Peukert et al. (2019) mentioned the criticism on e-commerce and VR for the inability to evaluate products, for example, feeling, touching, and trying out products, when in comparison to a traditional in-store. Even if the interaction with objects in a virtual environment is possible, with actual technologies it is still extremely hard to replicate the tactile sensation that a person has when touching a real object (Lombart et al., 2019).

These studies highlighted the big gap that still exists in VR regarding the lack in sensations of the five senses. With this thesis, there is a contribution to the literature by the application not only of the concepts of sense of power, cognitive flexibility and intention to return in a virtual environment, but also by exploring a multisensory experience in a virtual environment and its impact in return intention.

From these constructs arise the research questions, on the basis of which the entire study in question will be developed:

- Can cognitive flexibility positively impact sense of power?
- Can sense of power positively impact intention to return?
- Can psychological distance moderate the effect of sense of power in intention to return?
- Can personality traits moderate the effect of cognitive flexibility on sense of power?

In this vein, the main objectives of this study are: (i) explore how cognitive flexibility influences sense of power and consequently the intention to return in a context of a virtual reality coffee shop; (ii) analyze the moderating effect of the different sensory experiences in the relationship between sense of power and the intention to return (iii) analyze personality traits as moderator of cognitive flexibility and sense of power.

To achieve these objectives successfully, it is important to contextualize the problematic. The theoretical background section will start to address the digitalization trend, the emergence of online businesses and e-commerce as a reaction to the ever-developing technological circle and the perceived risks associated with the online consumption. As a response to these risks, there will be a focus on the emergence of alternatives with a special focus given on virtual reality, which will be tool used in the experiment for this dissertation.

2. Theoretical Background

2.1. Digitalization and e-commerce

In the rapidly evolving retail landscape, consumers' needs still drive their purchase decisions. Shoppers make most consumption decisions, yet newer technologies, newer business models and big data/predictive analytics suggest that the shopping process is on the way to great improvements into an unknown "shopping realm". The result is a powerful need to understand critical retailing areas in which innovations are changing the game, so that we can better understand where the retailing field will be evolving in the future (Grewal, Roggeveen and Nordfält, 2017). Due to these technological advances, not only is the retailing evolving so are the consumer's behaviors. As mentioned by Hong and Cha (2013) the fast development and growth of e-commerce has been entrenched largely because of its convenience and specially because of the money, which it offers to consumers. On other hand generates concerns about privacy and security issues and other instability issues such as product quality.

A mobile device allows consumers to connect to the digital world from wherever they are in the physical world, and therefore it strongly affects the customer journey (Verhoefet al., 2017). The fast growth in the use of mobile devices has changed how consumers behave and shop online. There has been a significant increase in sales and penetration of smartphones and tablets. In 2016 mobile devices accounted for 65% of the total time consumers spent on digital media (Haan et al., 2018).

2.1.1. Perceived Risks of shopping online

Risk is considered to be one of the main and most important elements in the buying behavior, weather it is on traditional or online platforms (Kumar and Grisaffe, 2004; Faroughian et al., 2012). When buying products on internet, the main risks regards privacy issues (Pantano, Iazzolino, and Migliano, 2013), the level of security one perceives when using the online environment (Taylor and Strutton, 2011) and also the concern when it comes to the after-sales service warrantee compared with more traditional ways of shopping (Hong and Yi, 2012). Another limitation mentioned by the same authors concerns the fact that a customer is not able to examine or to touch the product they want to purchase before purchasing. This is a risk

that the customer does not have when shopping in physical stores. In fact, to reduce this risk, Kim, Donald, and Rao (2008) studied that in several cases, online consumers only decide to finish purchase after visiting the physical store and evaluate the products they want to buy.

Other risks may vary according to the devices. For example, mobile device is recognized as riskier for online shopping and for payments (Chin et al., 2012). For example, due to the smaller screen sizes of mobiles it might not allow a proper comparison of alternatives. It may also highlight the concerns related to the security of payment information. These perceived risks may lead consumers to switch between different devices (Pappas, 2017).

2.1.2. Emergence of alternative realities

To address issues in online shopping such as the risk of quality of the product, several researchers studied virtual technologies and concluded it enhance the customer's shopping experience, not only by influencing the aspect of product quality but also consumer satisfaction, permanence in the store, frequency of visits and visualized products (Catterall and Maclaran, 2001).

Virtual stores were described by Lee (2007) as having several advantages. Not only time saving aspects, but also the reduction of operational costs, a wider variety of products offering compared to traditional stores and the possibility for consumers to have access to the store directly from their place. Yoon and Kim (2007) stated that a customer's choice to purchase from an online virtual store, as well as in a traditional one, is affected by several attributes. The authors grouped some of the attributes in three dimensions: time, place and acquisition. The place dimension regards the convenience of the place, making it easier for customers and in line with their preferences; the time dimension highlights the customer's lack of time, time pressure or purchase delivery time (Lee, 2007); finally, the acquisition dimension has to do with the customer's opportunity to acquire products in an simpler and easier way (Yoon and Kim, 2007).

Since this type of immersive environments were proved to increase consumer's satisfaction and their shopping experience, it can be used as a ground-breaking tool for the expansion of new type of store with the insertion of advanced technologies such as virtual and augmented reality (Pantano and Servidio, 2012).

2.2. Virtual Reality

As Harry Houdini said, "What the eyes see, and the ears hear, the mind believes" (Houdini, n.d.). Virtual reality is a human experience and this technology is resolutely designed to take benefit of the human information processing system in order to mimic how people interpret the world they are immersed in (Berg and Vance, 2016). The same authors described virtual reality (VR) as being a group of technologies that allow individuals to immerse in an experience of a world beyond reality. They further call it a human experience.

A VR experience is an encounter in which the user is effectively immersed in a responsive virtual world (Brooks, 1999). VR was also described by Ulrich (2015) as a new, complex form of communication that can influence people and change the way they comprehend the real world.

Meißner et al. (2017) described an immersive virtual environment as one in which the user is perceptually surrounded by the virtual environment. To be visually immersed in this environment VR, head mounter displays (HMD) are available to consumers to visually block out the real world (Manis and Choi, 2018). Lemley and Volokh (2014) studied that in a VR environment, people tend to physiologically respond to actions done to them in VR. The subjects who see themselves getting hit in a VR experience respond with skin conductance and heart rate levels as if they were in fact, getting hit. Even though it does not actually cause real injuries, the instant reaction to the virtual contact is, for many people, much like the reaction to physical contact. These results happen even when the subject is male, and their VR "body" is female, meaning that they are aware that it is not "their real" body.

Pantano and Servidio (2012) suggested that these new innovative systems such as VR may be used to minimize the consumer's cognitive load by providing suitable and user-friendly visual interfaces and help the customer to finalize the purchase intention. According to the same authors, these factors might satisfy consumer's requirements and make the products displaying more evocative, with consequences on both the effectiveness of the mediated message and the cognitive response.

Even though there is a long list of advantages of Virtual Reality, there is still some risks and gaps. As Sallomi and Lee (2016) mentioned, VR could take you into the depths of the rain forest, you could see the forest ground or look up to the trees, but you would not feel the humidity of the forest, experience the smells or touch the plants. Even though haptic devices

(devices that can simulate the sense of touch) can be used to increase the experience, it is still very distant from the sensations felt in real life and it is still extremely hard to replicate the tactile sensation that a person has when touching a real object (Lombart et al., 2019). Furthermore, one of the critics made to VR regards the lack of ability to evaluate a product, the lack of ability to touch the product and feel the fabrics, trying it out, when in comparison to a real traditional store (Peukert et al., 2019).

Not only the lack of senses has been a weaker point to mention in VR, Alghamdi et al. (2017) conducted a study in which they found that virtual representations of typical everyday domestic stressors in a non-immersive VR environment can induce significant psychological and physiological reactions to stress. They stated that especially in an immersive VR environments and stimuli related to significant life changes or scenarios can create emotional reactions such as stress, anxiety, or fear. The same was mentioned by users (Meehan et al., 2003), they stated that some immersive VR environments or stimuli can cause emotional and psychological reactions. Walshe et al. (2005) mentioned that VR users can be emotionally affected by the virtual environment they are immersed in, even though they acknowledge that these environments are not real. However, not only emotions can be affected in VR, Yoon and Vargas (2014) conducted a study in which they revealed that the traits of avatars in virtual environments promoted and accentuated the individuals' behaviors aligned with the avatar, either pro or anti-social displays, depending on the pre-determined avatar traits

With the development of alternatives and improvements in the online shopping and emergence of technologies such as virtual reality, for this study, a model was proposed in which it is presented the possible relations between three main variables, cognitive flexibility, sense of power and intention to return and the moderating effects of personality traits and type of sensory experiences, all in an immersive virtual environment.

Figure 1- Proposed model



2.3. Cognitive Flexibility

As stated above, Virtual Reality has several limitations, one of the biggest ones is the lack of a tactic sense. In a VR experience, the user is not able to feel the real tactic emotions, at least not like in real life (Lombart et al ,2019). The same happens with the senses of taste or smell. The two senses that can be really experienced are sight and sound. In a way, in VR the user needs to adjust to the environment he/she's immersed in. The type of experience and easiness of adoption will be determined, along with other factors, by the individual's cognitive flexibility (Dennis and Vander Wal, 2010)

Cognitive flexibility is "the ability to switch cognitive sets to adapt to changing environmental stimuli" (Dennis and Vander Wal, 2010: 242 *cited in* Main, Penner and Bullard, 2019). It is characterized by the ability to adapt the way of thinking according to new facts and new circumstances in one's environment (Deak, 2003) and it supports diverse thinking and problem solving (Spiro, et al., 1988). It refers to the existence of options and alternatives, the capacity to be flexible and to adjust to any situation and to the self-efficacy in being (Martin and Rubin, 1995). Cognitive Flexibility can be facilitated by previous states and it can even be triggered experimentally. For example, (Nielsen, 2015) studied that reasonable levels of ambient noise promotes cognitive flexibility.

The implicit-theory framework developed by Carol, Dweck, Chi-yi (1995) distinguishes two groups based on different beliefs: incremental and entity theories. Entity-theorists believe in a predetermined disposition that cannot be changed whereas the Incremental-theorists believe in the possibility of change and improvement (Main, Pennerand and Bullard, 2019).

Entity-theorists believe that someone's ability, personality traits, and world-dispositions are factors that are beyond one's control (Main, Penner and Bullard, 2019; Chiu, Hong et al., 1997; Poon and Koehler, 2006). These theorists tend to blame someone's behavior on their personality traits (Main, Penner and Bullard, 2019; Chiu, Hong et al., 1997; Erdley and Dweck, 1993). Contrarily, Incremental-theorists believe that ability, personality traits, and world-dispositions are malleable factors and can change through effort (Main, Penner and Bullard, 2019; Chiu, Hong et al., 1997; Poon and Koehler, 2006). In sum, the center of implicit self-theory is the difference between those who believe in relatively fixed personality traits (entity theorists) and those who believe in more dynamic and flexible traits (incremental theorists) (McConnell, 2001).

Adopting an incremental-theory mindset develops cognitive flexibility (Main, Penner and Bullard, 2019) and by adopting this theory, one needs to be in constant adaptation and developing the new information, considering different approaches and outcomes based on that information. The Incremental theorists are the type of individuals who would be more adaptable and more easily immersed in a virtual environment.

2.4. Sense of Power

Power has been defined as an "asymmetric control over valued resources in social relations" (Rucker, Galinsky, and Dubois, 2012; Keltner, Gruenfeld, and Anderson, 2003; Thibaut and Kelley, 1959). Nevertheless, power is not merely the control over resources or composed just by an individual's social position. Power is likewise a psychological state—a perception of a person's capacity to influence others (Bugental, Blue, and Cruzcosa, 1989; Galinsky et al., 2003)

Feeling powerless is commonly an unpleasant state that drives consumers to attenuate this state. Moreover, some theories propose that that status is one source of power, and therefore feeling powerless might be compensated for by demonstrating or obtaining status (Rucker and Galinsky, 2008)

Social density has been stated as an important factor that affects one's sense of power. It was described by Eroglu and Machleit (1990) as a holistic perceptual evaluation build of how many people are present, how proximal people are from each other, and the overall spaciousness of the specific environment. Studies have demonstrated that increased social density tendency generates a decline on the perceived control over the social environment (Madzharov et al., 2015; Hui and Bateson, 1991; Machleit, Eroglu, and Mantel, 2000; Van Rompay et al., 2008). Meaning that social density alters the anticipated control consumers feel, or the level of social power that they experience (Rucker, Galinsky, and Dubois, 2012).

Research has established that scents can carry haptic-based associations, in which some scents are perceived to be warm (e.g., vanilla, cinnamon) and others are perceived to be cool (e.g., peppermint, eucalyptus) (Krishna, Elder, and Caldara, 2010). This way, and according to Madzharov et al. (2015) a warmer/cooler cool scent will impact the perception of social density and consequently one's sense of power. In a retailing environment, Lynn et al. (1993) detailed that the need for power is a desire to be able to influence others and that people with a high sense of power may find tipping customs mostly appealing, because tipping will be seen as an incentive and a reward that will give consumers power over the people who are serving them.

According to Rucker, Galinsky, and Dubois (2012) when people consider themselves has being low on power, they tend to place a higher value on products and in certain attributes that will help on their power restoration goal. As an example of this, in a study conducted by Rucker and Galinsky (2008) it was shown that people in a low power state give a lot more value to high status products than high performance ones. This is explained because when it comes to consumption, power-compensatory behaviour is highlight through a higher purchase behaviour, of status type of products. (Rucker and Galinsky, 2008; Rucker, Galinsky, and Dubois, 2012) however, this is not verified and had no effect on spending for objects unassociated with status (Magee and Galinsky, 2008). Opposed to this idea, Rucker, Dubois and Galinsky (2011) study provide support to the idea that consumer spending (whether it is for themselves or others) can be considerably affected by current psychological states of power. Furthermore, the authors affirm that high-power individuals, opposed to low-power ones, would have been willing to pay more for the low-status products.

Considering the studies described before regarding the virtual reality, in which there's proof that there's a tendency for people to physiologically respond to actions done to them in VR and also be affected psychologically, trough stress for example. This psychological impact on the user suggest that a VR experience should also affect an individual's sense of power. Furthermore, as mentioned cognitive flexibility is the ability to adjust the way of thinking according to the circumstances, we propose that cognitive flexibility will have a positive effect on one's sense of power, thus forming the following hypothesis:

H1: Cognitive Flexibility has a positive and significant effect to Sense of Power

2.5. Revisit Intentions

The Revisit intentions has also been evaluated as a perceived value (hedonic and utilitarian) (Santini, Ladeira and Sampaio, 2018). Consumer behavior studies have proved that product and service consumption aggregates two dimensions: utilitarian and hedonic (Babin, Darden, and Griffin, 1994).

The hedonic dimension states that consumers make choices which are guided by pleasure motivations, emotional factors, recreational consumption, and stimulation. In this dimension the consumer's actions can be guided by promises of reward (Babin, Darden, and Griffin, 1994). On the opposite side, utilitarian value is most related with rationality and efficiency (Batra and Ahtola, 1991). In this dimension, tourists, for example, often return to places they previously visited due to rational and tangible factors such as satisfaction with the cost, the time of travel, whether it is low or high season, factors that are related to financial motivations. (Santini, Ladeira and Sampaio, 2018). For the utilitarian dimension, virtual stores can be advantageous due to time saving aspects the convenience and money saving point of view, which allows customers to have access to the store directly from their place.

The foremost antecedents of revisit intentions identified in past studies have included: satisfaction (Jang and Feng, 2007); motivation (Lee, Lee, and Lee, 2014); perceived value (Petrick, Morais, and Norman, 2001); destination image (Chew and Jahari, 2014); perceived risk (Çetinsöz and Ege, 2013; Chew and Jahari, 2014); attachment (Petrick, 2004) and previous travel experience (Huang and Hsu, 2009 *cited in* Li, Wen and Ying, 2018)

Seiders et al. (2005) studied that customer satisfaction has a remarkable positive effect on repurchase intention, however, they found no direct effect on the actual behavior (repurchase behavior). Luo and Homburg (2007) disagree and supported that satisfaction influences future purchase intentions and also behaviors and increases customer loyalty. Customer loyalty was described by Wai (2019) as the intention to speak positively about a certain service/place, to re-commend it, and to return to that place in the future. Additionally, Kuenzel &Yassim, (2007: 44) defined it as "a deeply held commitment to re-buy or re-patronize a preferred product or service consistently in the future, despite situational influences and marketing efforts having the potential to cause switching behavior."

As previously mentioned in the literature, status is considered to be one source of power. As studied by Rucker and Galinsky (2008), the psychological states of power have been proven to have critical consequences on people's behavior. Furthermore, according to the literature, consumers have a tendency to attenuate the feeling of powerlessness by demonstrating or obtaining status, which can be done through a power-compensatory behavior, for example, through a high purchase behavior. Purchasing more, more expensive and status products. Also, Rucker, Dubois and Galinsky (2011) study added that the consumer spending (whether it is for themselves or others) can be considerably affected by current psychological states of power, and not only for status products, the authors affirm that high-power individuals, opposed to low-power ones, would have been willing to pay more for the low-status products. This idea lead to the suggestion of the following hypothesis that sense of power will positively impact the individual's intention to revisit.

H2: Sense of Power has a positive and significant impact on intention to revisit.

2.6. Sensory Experience – Psychological distance

In a virtual environment one of the biggest limitations mentioned are the senses and the inability to experience some of the senses. But the senses are a very important factor on a shopping experience, weather in traditional or a virtual environment.

Studies show that consumer experience can be positively enhanced by tangible and intangible cues that stimulate consumers' five senses through managing atmospheric elements of an operation (Suh, M. et al., 2015). Furthermore, businesses try to impact the consumers by

creating and enhancing the physical environments with the goal to appeal to the consumer's five senses and create an appropriate environment that meets their marketing objectives (Walls, Okumus, Wang, and Kwun, 2011) *cited in* (Helmefalk and Hultén, 2017)

Embodied VR devices, used in the tourism filled, are in straight contact with the individual's senses and work as a mediator for potential customers' experiences inside a virtual environment, allowing the ability to virtually discover, and choose specific destinations more confidently on where they want to travel (Flavián, Ibáñez-Sánchez and Orús, 2019).

Feng, Dey and Lindeman (2016) stated that multi-sensory feedback has been proven to increase the levels of immersion in a virtual environments and also provide similar cues and feelings to what the person would feel in the real worlds, such as visual, auditory and haptic cues.

Even though it is the standard senses used in this type of devices, a person's sense of immersion in VR is significantly improved when more senses other than sight and sound are included. Tactile sensation, for example, is a fundamental part of each person's interaction with the world, and both haptic and also thermal senses play a role in this perception. (Kleinsman-Leusink-Hill, Bronlund and Gupta, 2018)

Elder et al (2017) studied that when it comes to the five senses, some direct experiences can be considered as more proximal than others, An individual can experience each of the senses directly, however, each of its spatial distance will vary according to the physical distance required for the sense to be perceptive (Rodaway, 2002). This means that something will only be tasted if it is inside someone's mouth or touched and felt if it is near enough for contact. Therefore, the senses of touch and taste are considered by Trope and Liberman (2010) as more proximal sensory experience. The opposite happens for what is mentioned as distal sensory experiences, referring to the senses of sight and hearing in which a stimulus might be further apart and still be sensed.

Trope and Liberman (2010) go further in their studies and remark that sensory imagery follows a similar pattern as an actual experience. They explain that an imagined experience that is based on senses that need to be physically closer in order to be sensed (taste, touch) will feel as though they are physically closer than for example a person that imagined a

sensory experience with a sense that can be felt further away (hearing and sight). Their studies explain not only the distinction between psychologically proximal or distal sensory images, but also that this will influence the judgments of psychological distance on other dimensions such as spatial and temporal distances.

The option for the two sensorial type of experiences was based on the aforementioned authors' discovery on proximal and distal senses. For the study, it is assumed that as it happens in imagined sensory experiences, the same is assumed for VR. Therefore, we hypothesize that each sensory experience will have a different effect in the model and will moderate the relation between sense of power and behavior.

H3: The sensorial experience type will have a moderating effect on the relationship between sense of power and behavior

2.7. Personality Traits

According to the authors Lord et al., (1986), Megargee, (1969) and Moskowitz, (1988, 1990) specific personality traits can benefit individuals to obtain higher levels of influence and control in their relationships, contributing to each personal sense of power, for example, people who are assertive, forceful, and self-assured ways (Buss and Craik, 1980). The same applies to other traits, individuals who are more dominant should have a greater ability to influence others than those who are more introverted, timid, or submissive

The majority of researchers agrees on the existence of five factors of personality that explain personality attributes (Digman, 1990). There are several names used to describe each of the five, however the following have been used by several different authors:

- The first dimension was first introduced by Eysenck (1947) and is Extraversion/Introversion. This trait can often describe an individual who is sociable, gregarious, assertive, talkative, and active. (Barrick and Mount, 1991).
- The second dimension is commonly named Emotional Stability, Stability, Emotionality, or Neuroticism (Borgatta, 1964; Conley, 1985; Hakel, 1974; John, 1989; Lorr & Manning, 1978; McCrae & Costa, 1985; Noller et al., 1987; Norman, 1963; Smith, 1967 *cited in* Barrick and Mount, 1991). The traits associated with

Neuroticism are being depressed, anxious, embarrassed, angry, insecure, worried and emotional (Barrick and Mount, 1991).

- Agreeableness or Likability is the third dimension of the five factors of personality. This dimension is associated traits such as being courteous, flexible, trusting, goodnatured, cooperative, forgiving, soft-hearted, and tolerant. (Barrick and Mount, 1991)
- The fourth dimension is Conscientiousness or Conscience Conscientiousness and it is related to dependability, being thorough, organizational skills and responsible.
- Finally, the fifth and final dimension is, what McCrae & Costa (1985) called Openness to Experience. This includes traits such as strong imagination, curious, authentic, artistic and smart.

When explained the concept of cognitive flexibility, it was mentioned that entity-theorists believe that someone's ability, personality traits, and world-dispositions are factors that are beyond one's control, incremental theorists, on the other hand, defended that those are malleable factors and can change through effort. Focusing on this last point of view, by adopting an incremental-theory mindset an individual develops cognitive flexibility.

Also as previously stated, incremental theorists defend that aspects such as personality traits are malleable factors that can be changed through the willingness of individuals. These traits vary from higher or lower openness to experience, neuroticism, consciousness, agreeableness and extroversion. Thee variations define not only a person's personality, but they will have impact on their sense of power, for example. An individual that scores higher in consciousness, is likely to have a greater sense of power than one low in consciousness.

With this being said and basing on and incremental theory beliefs, the following hypothesis is formed:

H4: Personality Traits will moderate the relationship between Cognitive Flexibility and Sense of Power.

3. Methodology

3.1. Research Approach

In this VR experience, it is suggested that in the virtual environment, sense of power is affected by cognitive flexibility. Such cognitive flexibility is expected to have an effect on the intention to return through the moderating role of Personality Traits and on the Sensorial Experience.

Learning more about the moderating effect of Sensorial Experience is one of the main goals of the present study, through the presence of sight and sound in one of the versions of the experiment and the senses of sight, sound and scent on the other experience, and to see the effect it has on the relationships between the constructs shown in figure 1.

To back up the proposed theoretical framework the methodology applied a virtual reality experience. An environment in a Café was created using the Unity program. The process under which this environment was developed will be explained further in this chapter. The necessary data was collected in the end of the experiment through a questionnaire.

3.2. Research Design

As aforementioned two experiences were conducted. The difference in the experiences regards type of sensorial experience, using Elder et al. (2017) imagined senses that require close proximity to the body in order to be sensed (i.e., taste, touch) will feel more psychologically proximal than senses that do not require such close proximity (i.e., hearing, sight). Likewise, in the conducted experiences, there was a division into two types of sensory experience: A proximal one, with the presence of Sight and sound and a distal experience, with the presence of the senses of sight, sound and smell.

For the experiments, despite being in separate groups, the VR environment of the experience was the same. A virtual café, with silent avatars inserted, with the only purpose of making it a more realistic experience. There was low background music playing, to set an environment. The person would sit in a chair, insert the VR Goggles and it would find him/herself sitting in a café table.

In one condition, there was only the presence of vision and hearing. On the second condition an ambient scent of coffee was inserted, adding to the existing senses of vision and hearing, ideally representing a proximal relation to the experience. The two conditions were shown to different groups of people.

The participants were faced with a single set of data, as a final questionnaire. This task allowed the gathering of all the needed data to the study. Through a set of questions, it was evaluated: Participant's sense of power (Anderson, John, and Keltner, 2011); an evaluation of their cognitive flexibility (Martin and Rubin, 1995); an analysis of their personality traits (Guido et al., 2015); and their psychological distance from the café (Elder et al., 2017). This final question was the only that differed from one study to the other. In one, it appealed to the sense of vision only, on the other it appealed to the sense of scent. In this stage, it was also important to inquire participants about their return intention (DiPietro and Levitt, 2019). In the beginning of the question asking the average of coffees the person drank a day. This was created to detect the person's opinion towards coffee, weather they like it or not.

3.3. Procedure

A pre-test both for the VR experience, as well as the questionnaire, in the week before the experience took place. This pre-test was made to 5 people and aimed to detect any visual or technical problems in the VR environment and any mistyped or lack of clarity in the questionnaire.

The experiment took place in the last two weeks on June 2019th. The first week took place in a facility of a coffee shop on Lisbon and in the second week in ISCTE. Subjects who participated were first briefed about what to expect and that they would be immersed in a VR environment in Café and that the experience was merely observation of the surroundings. Then, the subjects were briefed to be seated. Once the program was ready, they put the glasses on, they look around, and if they wished then could stand up and observe from standing position. They would observe the coffee in the table, the avatars that were in the café, they would listen to the background music. Once they felt like they observed everything and felt immersed in the experience, they would then remove the glasses. In the end, a final questionnaire was handed in digital form to the participants in which all the date necessary for the study was collected. The questionnaire took about 5 minutes to be filled.

3.4. Measures

The questionnaire began with the question regarding the average of coffees the participant drank a day. The general demographic data was collected in the end of the questionnaire. There were several questions regarding the chosen measures of the investigated variables, which are explained below.

1. Sense of Power. Aiming to measure one's perception of power, the questions were retrieved from the study by Anderson, and Keltner (2012). It contained questions such as "I can get other to listen to what I say"; "My ideas and opinions are often ignored" or "I think I have a great deal of power". The questions remain the same as the original study only translated to Portuguese. Participants responded to each of the seven questions using seven-point Likert scales (1 = "Totally Disagree"; 7 = "Totally Agree").

2. *Cognitive Flexibility*. Created by Martin and Rubin (1995) the 12-item 6-point scale in Likert format scale was constructed to measure Cognitive Flexibility. For the purpose of the study, all the 12 items were used. The responses were measure in 1= strongly agree; 6= strongly disagree. For the purposes of the result analysis, the scale was reverted. Some examples of the type of questions presented are "I avoid new and unusual situations", "My behavior is a result of conscious decisions that I make" or "I am willing to work at creative solutions to problems".

3. *Personality Traits*. For this study, the scale was based on The Italian version of the 10-item Big Five Inventory by Guido, Pelus, Capestro and Miglietta (2012). The original scale it was based on was created by Rammstedt and John (2007), this BFI-10 appears to be a better alternative to Gosling, Rentfrow, and Swann's (2003) TIPI scale, as it was found by its authors to be psychometrically superior to the latter. Participants responded to each of the 10 items using a five-point Likert scales (1 = "Disagree Strongly"; 5 = "Agree strongly"). The section began with "I see myself as someone who..." after which the respondents had evaluate, according to the Likert scale, statements such as "is generally trusting", "as few artistic interests" or "is reserved".

4. *Psychological Distance*. Retrieved from the study by Elder et.al (2017). This is the question that differentiates the two conditions of the experience. In this section participants were told to imagine the coffee cup that was in the experience they have just made, and to focus on only one sense. On one condition, they were told to focus on the sense of "Vision". On the other condition, they were told to focus on the sense of "Scent". They were told to

image a sensory experience in which they interact with that coffee. They are seeing/smelling it (according to the condition). Then the participants are presented with a modified IOS scale (Aron, Aron, and Smollan 1992) with two circles, one representing themselves, and the other representing the chosen object that the participants imagined interacting with. The circles varied in the distance between them, with 1 representing the least overlap (i.e., the greatest distance between themselves and the object), and 9 representing a complete overlap (i.e., minimal distance). Participants were told to select which of the nine pictures of circles best represented their relationship with the object given the imagined sensory experience.

5. *Return Intentions*. This section was based on DiPietro and Levitt' (2019) study on Restaurant Authenticity. It contained three items and was adapted from Jang et al. (2011). The insertion of the variable intention to return was inserted in the model to measure the individual's behavior as a response of the variables in the model. For the current study's survey, a 7-point Likert-type scale was utilized (1 = strongly disagree and 7 = strongly agree). The items included in the section were adapted for this study only by the replacement of the word "restaurant" to "cafe". The three questions were "I will recommend this cafe to others", "I will speak positively of this cafe" and "I plan to make repeat purchases at this cafe".

3.5. Participants

There were 125 participants in the study. For procedural design, the post experience questionnaire was developed in consultation with senior academics ensuring the questions to be clear, concise, and specific. In the end of the questionnaire, a section containing personal demographic questions was inserted, related to the participant's age, gender, and level of education.

Relatively to the sample population characteristics, a summary of the sample demographics is presented in table 1. As a brief reading on the sample profile, it can be reported that from the total population that participated in the experience there were 78 females and 47 males. As most of the participants were between the ages of 21-25 years old, 40% of the whole sample held a bachelor's degree, followed by 32.8% with the secondary studies.

The distribution of the moderator sensorial experience type had two conditions, sight and sound; and sight, sound and scent and it can be found on table 2. There were 63 participants in the sight and sound condition and 62 participants in the sight, sound and scent.

Table 1- Total Demographics

Demographic Characteristics	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Age		
18-20	30	24
21-25	58	46.4
26-30	15	12
31-35	12	9.6
36-40	5	4
41-45	1	0.8
46-50	1	0.8
+50	3	2.4
Gender		
Female	78	62.4
Male	47	37.6
Education Level		
Primary (9th grade)	3	2.4
Secondary (12th grade)	41	32.8
Bachelor's degree	50	40
Master / Post-graduate/PhD	31	24.8

Table 2- Demographics by sensory experience

	Sight + sound + smell Sigh + sour			
Demographic Characteristics	Freque	ency		
Age				
18-20	12	18		
21-25	25	33		
26-30	9	6		
31-35	8	4		
36-40	5			
41-45	1			
46-50	1			
+50	1	2		
Gender				
Female	39	39		
Male	23	24		
Education Level				
Primary (9th grade)	1	2		
Secondary (12th grde)	31	10		
Bachelor's degree	24	26		
Master / Post-graduate/Phd	6	25		
TOTAL	62	63		

Source: Own elaboration

4. Results

4.1. Descriptive Analysis

In this section there are present the results of the descriptive analyses that was performed through the SPSS program. Data such as the mean, standard deviation and the Cronbach's Alpha of each dimension of the conceptual model is detailed.

4.2. Average of Coffees

The first question of the questionnaire is was inserted as a control variable. To determine whether people liked coffee.

An independent T-test was conducted to determine if there were any variances in the means of the difference sensory experiences determined by this variable. By looking at table 3, it can be determined that there are no significant variances between the group means of sensory experience (sig. 0.539 > 0.05). Adding to this, the group means of each sensory experience are not statistically significantly different from one another (Sig. (2-tailed) > 0.05.)

This study found that the average of coffee in sigh, sound and smell sensory experience had statistically significantly higher average of coffees (2.02) compared sigh and sound sensory experience (1.5), t (123) =2.281, p=0.024.

Independent Samples Test							
			Average of Coffees				
			Equal Variances Equal Variances				
			Assumed	assumed			
Levene's Test for	F		0.380				
Equality of Variances	Sig.		0.539				
t-test for Equality of	t		2.281	2.280			
Means	df		123	122.361			
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.024	0.024			
	Mean Difference						
			0.516	0.51626			
	Std Error Difference						
			0.226	0.226			
	95% Confidence	Lower	0.068	0.068			
	Interval of the	Upper					
	Distance		0.964	0.965			

Table 3- Independent Samples Test - Average of coffees

Source: Own elaboration

Table 4 - means of average of coffees

Average of Coffees

.

Sensory Experience	Average
Sight + Sound + Smell	2.024
Sight + Sound	1.508
Total	1.764

Source: Own elaboration

4.3. Sense of Power

The analyses of sense of power was conducted to measure each person's perception of their own sense power. Firstly, an independent T-test was conducted to determine if there were significant differences between the two groups of sensory experiences regarding the variable sense of power.

	Independent Sa	amples Test				
		Sense of Power				
		_	Equal Variances Assumed	Equal Variances not assumed		
Levene's Test for	F		2.953			
Equality of Variances	Sig.		0.088			
t-test for Equality of	t		0.851	0.850		
Means	df		123	119.059		
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.397	0.397		
	Mean Difference		0.125	0.125		
	Std Error Difference		0.147	0.147		
	95% Confidence	Lower	-0.166	-0.167		
	Interval of the Distance	Upper	0.417	0.418		

Table 5- Independent Samples Test - sense of power

Source: Own elaboration

By looking at table 5 it can be can determined that there is no significant difference in variance between the two sensory experiences Sight + Sound and Sight + Smell + Sound (Sig. 0.088 > 0.05). As results, the group means of each sensory experience are not statistically significantly different from one another Sig. (2-tailed) > 0.05. Thus t (123) = 0.851, p=0.397.

This group is constituted by seven questions. The means, standard deviation and the Cronbach's Alpha can be found on table 6.

The highest number of mean regards question 7 of Vision + Smell experience with 5.419. The smallest mean is in question 5 of the same experience, with a mean of 4.129.

Looking in global terms, the higher and lowest means of the total are found in questions 5 and 7 respectively, which is in accordance with the stated before. By looking at the standard deviation one can tell that question 5 has the highest number (1.443) representing the item with the highest response variability.

In my relationships with others	Sensory Experience						
	Sight	+ Sound +					
		Smell	Sight +	Sight + Sound		TOTAL	
	Mean	Std.	Mean	Std.	Mean	Std.	
		Deviation	mean	Deviation	mean	Deviation	
1. I can get him/her/them to listen to what I	5.274	1.148	5.079	1.021	5.176	1.086	
say.							
2. My wishes do not carry much weight.	5.145	1.389	5.317	1.189	5.232	1.290	
3. I can get him/her/them to do what I want.	4.952	1.260	4.476	0.965	4.712	1.142	
4. Even if I voice them. my views have little	5.290	1.497	5.159	1.208	5.224	1.355	
sway.							
5. I think I have a great deal of power.	4.129	1.624	4.175	1.251	4.152	1.443	
6. My ideas and opinions are often ignored.	5.177	1.349	5.143	1.342	5.160	1.340	
7. Even when I try. I am not able to get my	5.419	1.080	5.159	1.110	5.288	1.099	
way.							
Cronbach's Alpha		0.786	0.7	71	0.7	79	

Table 6 - Means, standard deviation and Cronbach's Alpha - sense of power

Source: Own elaboration

4.4. Cognitive Flexibility

The second dimension evaluated is Cognitive Flexibility. It was evaluated in twelve questions. The data, (means, standard deviation and the Cronbach's Alpha) can be found on table 7.

To determine if there were significant differences between the two groups of sensory experiences regarding the Cognitive Flexibility, an independent T-test was conducted (table 8). Firstly, after conducting an Independent t-test, it was determined that there are no significant differences between the two sensory experiences Sight + Sound and Sight + Smell + Sound regarding the variable Cognitive Flexibility (Sig. 0.258 > 0.05). As result, the group means of each sensory experience are not statistically significantly different from one another Sig. (2-tailed) > 0.05. Thus t (123) = -0.249, *p*=0.803

Based on how you feel at this moment, to what extent would you say you agree or disagree with the following statements	<i>u</i> Sensory Experience					
	Sight + Sound + Smell		Sight + Sound		TOTAL	
	Mea n	Std. Deviation	Mea n	Std. Deviatio n	Mean	Std. Deviatio n
1. I can communicate an idea in many different ways	4.581	1.300	4.556	0.876	4.568	1.102
2. I avoid new and unusual situations (Reversed)	4.629	1.204	4.540	1.255	4.584	1.226
3. I feel like I never get to make decisions (Reversed)	4.806	1.265	4.683	1.013	4.744	1.142
4. I can find workable solutions to seemingly unsolvable problems	4.226	1.234	4.016	0.992	4.120	1.119
5. I seldom have choices when deciding how to behave (Reversed)	3.823	1.300	4.175	1.115	4.000	1.218
6. I am willing to work at creative solutions to problems	4.290	1.260	4.492	1.030	4.392	1.149
7. In any given situation. I am able to act appropriately	4.806	1.377	4.952	0.851	4.880	1.140
8. My behavior is a result of conscious decisions that I make	4.484	1.364	4.619	0.906	4.552	1.153
9. I have many possible ways of behaving in any given situation	4.210	1.404	4.508	1.045	4.360	1.240
10. I have difficulty using my knowledge on a given topic in real- life situations (Reversed)	4.177	1.432	3.921	1.209	4.048	1.325
11. I am willing to listen and consider alternatives for handling a problem	4.935	1.084	5.032	0.915	4.984	1.000
12. I have the self-confidence necessary to try different ways of behaving	4.274	1.393	4.095	1.174	4.184	1.285
Cronbach's Alpha	(0.806	().754	0	.785

Table 7- Means, standard deviation and Cronbach's Alpha - cognitive flexibility

Source: Own elaboration

Table 8 - Independent Samples Test - cognitive flexibility

Independent Samples Test

			Cognitive Flexibility				
	-		Equal Variances	Equal Variances not			
			Assumed	assumed			
Levene's Test for	F		1.333				
Equality of Variances	Sig.		0.250				
t-test for Equality of	t		-0.249	-0.249			
Means	df		123	111.783			
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.803	0.804			
	Mean Difference		-0.02878	-0.028			
	Std Error Difference		0.115	0.115			
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower	-0.257	-0.257			
	of the Distance	Upper	0.199	0.200			

Source: Own elaboration

By looking at the total, which represents the results from both Sight + Sound and Sight + Smell + Sound experiences, (table 8) the highest mean corresponds to question 11 with an average very close to 5 (4.984). For both experiences individually, this is the question with the highest mean as well. Oppositely, the question with the lowest mean global wise is question number 5. The question with the higher response variability is question 10, with a std. Deviation of 1.325

4.5. Personality Traits

In this group of questions, the aim was to evaluate the personality traits of each individual. It was constituted by 10 questions, two for each psychological trait. Table 10 shows each question as well as the descriptive analysis for each question.

Once again, in order to determine if there were significant differences between the two groups of sensory experiences regarding Personality Traits, an independent T-test was conducted (table 9). By looking at Sig. 0.563 > 0.05, it can be determined that there are no significant differences between the two sensory experiences regarding the variable Personality Traits. Secondly, by observing the sig. (2-tailed) results, the group means of each sensory experience are not statistically significantly different from one another Sig. (2-tailed) > 0.05. Therefore, t (123) = -0.994, p=0.322

Independent Samples Test										
			Personality Traits							
			Equal Variances Assumed	Equal Variances not assumed						
Levene's Test for Equality of Variances	F		0.337							
	Sig.		0.563							
t-test for Equality of Means	t		-0.994	-0.993						
	df		123	122.607						
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.322	0.323						
	Mean Difference		-0.077	-0.077						
	Std Error Difference		0.078	0.078						
	95% Confidence Interval of the Distance	Lower	-0.232	-0.232						
		Upper	0.077	0.077						

Source: Own elaboration

Since it is a personality analysis the Std. Deviation is an interesting number to evaluate, representing the question, personality item, in which there was variability in the responses, more differences of personality. By looking at the total, the question with higher deviation is 1.308, regarding question 5, not a significant variation. The question with the lowest result is question 10, with a Std. Deviation of 0.905.

Looking at the means, the question with higher mean is question 10 with an average of 3.896. Individually, in each experience, question 10 was also the one with higher mean. On the opposite side, the query with lowest mean is question number 9, again, in the total of the responses and in each experience individually.

On table 10, Cronbach's alpha was not calculated for this variable because as stated previously, each dimension of the five personality traits is constituted by 2 items (total of 10 items, two items for each personality trait), therefore it is not possible to calculate the Cronbach's alpha for only two items.

I see myself as someone who	Sensory Experience							
	Sight + Sound + Smell		Sight + Sound		TOTAL			
	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean	Std. Deviation		
1. is reserved	3.242	1.263	3.127	1.225	3.184	1.240		
2. is generally trusting	3.629	1.028	3.667	1.032	3.648	1.026		
3. Tends to be lazy	2.774	1.260	2.984	1.143	2.880	1.202		
4. Is relaxed. handles stress well	3.177	1.287	3.111	1.233	3.144	1.255		
5. Has few artistic interests	3.177	1.373	3.286	1.250	3.232	1.308		
6. Is outgoing. sociable	3.726	1.104	3.635	0.972	3.680	1.036		
7. Tends to find fault with others	3.258	1.144	3.540	1.090	3.400	1.122		
8. Does a thorough job	3.581	1.235	3.603	1.040	3.592	1.137		
9. Gets nervous easily	2.774	1.165	2.921	1.261	2.848	1.212		
10. Has an active imagination	3.774	0.913	4.016	0.889	3.896	0.905		

Table 10 - Means, standard deviation and Cronbach's Alpha - personality traits

Source: Own elaboration

4.6. Psychological Distance

The variable evaluated in this question is Psychological Distance. It was to measure the differences in the Psychological distance that the two sensory experiences were created. To evaluate the psychological distance, according to the senses, there were two sensory experiences conducted. Therefore, this is the only question that differed in the entire questionnaire
In the Experience with Sight + Sound the question for Psychological Distance addressed the sense of Vision. In the Sight + Sound + Smell experience, the question addressed the sense of smell. It had only one question asking the respondents to choose one of 9 images that best represented their imagined experience. The results can be found in Table 12.

Looking at table 11 results show that there were significant differences between the two groups of sensory experiences regarding Psychological Distance (Sig 0.002 < 0.05)

To determine if the group means of each sensory experience are not statistically significantly different from one another the results of sig. (2-tailed) results show that the group means of each sensory experience are in fact statistically significantly different from one another (Sig. (2-tailed) 0.043 > 0.05).

This study found that regarding psychological distance, sight, sound and smell sensory experience, was statistically significantly higher (4.05) compared to after a sensory experience with sight and sound (3.45), t (123) = -2.046, p=0.044.

Independent Samples Test									
			Psychological Distance						
			Equal Variances Assumed	Equal Variances not assumed					
Levene's Test for	F		9.590						
Equality of Variances	Sig.		0.002						
t-test for Equality of Means	t		-2.046	-2.041					
	df		123	113.930					
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.043	0.044					
	Mean Difference		-0.596	-0.596					
	Std Error Difference		0.291	0.291					
	95% Confidence	Lower	-1.172	-1.174					
	Interval of the Distance	Upper	-0.019	-0.017					

Table 11- Independent Samples Test - psychological distance

Source: Own elaboration

On table 12 one can see that in Sight + sound + Smell the mean is 4.048. significantly higher than in Sight + Sound (mean is 3.452). Regarding the standard deviation, Sight + Sound has a higher variance in responses with 1.835 against 1.296 of Sight + Sound + Smell. In global terms, the mean of the question was 3.752 and the standard deviation 1.649.

Psychological Distance	Sensory Experience							
	Sight + Sound + Smell		Sight + Sound		Total			
Choose one of the nine pictures of circles that best represented the relationship with the object	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean	Std. Deviation		
given the imagined sensory experience	4.048	1.396	3.452	1.835	3.752	1.649		

Table 12 - Means and Standard Deviation - psychological distance

4.7. Intention to Return

This dimension aims to study the behavioral part, specifically the intention to return. It is formed by three questions and the corresponding descriptive statistics are represented in Table 14. To determine if there is significance in the differences between the two groups of sensory experiences regarding this variable, an Independent t-test was conducted (see table 13). By looking at the value of Sig 0.661 one can determine that there are no significant differences between the two sensory experiences.

As results, the group means of each sensory experience are not statistically significantly different from one another Sig. (2-tailed) > 0.05. So, t (123) = 1.418, p=0.15

			Intention	to Return
			Equal Variances Assumed	Equal Variances not assumed
Levene's Test for	F		0.193	
Equality of Variances	Sig.		0.661	
t-test for Equality of	of t		1.418	1.418
Means	df		123	122.259
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.159	0.159
	Mean Difference		0.326	0.326
	Std Error Difference		0.230	0.23025
	95% Confidence Interval of the	Lower	-0.129	-0.129
	Distance	Upper	0.781	0.782

Source: Own elaboration

Source: Own elaboration

Return Intentions	Sensory Experience								
	Sight	+ Sound + Smell	Sigh	t + Sound	ТО	TAL			
	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean	Std. Deviation			
1- I will recommend this restaurant to others.	5.161	1.333	4.841	1.273	5.000	1.308			
2 - I will speak positively of this restaurant	5.226	1.348	4.825	1.339	5.024	1.353			
3 - I plan to make repeat purchases at this restaurant	5.306	1.478	5.048	1.373	5.176	1.426			
Cronbach's Alpha		0.952		0.932	0.	943			
				Source:	Own elabor	ation			

Table 14 - Means, standard deviation and Cronbach's Alpha - Intention to return

Observing Table 14 results show that the mean of the third question is the highest value, in both experiences and in total. The lowest mean of the Total is in question 1, the same happening for experience Smell + Vision (mean 5.161) and for the Vision experience, the lowest mean is question two, with an average of 4.825.

Considering the Standard Deviation, the question with more variances is question 1. It happens in both experiences and in the total, with a Std. Deviation of 1.308 in Total. Explaining that question 1 is the one with more variances in responses.

5. Linear Regressions

Performing a Linear Regression analysis helps to understand if each variable affects another variable and in what form. The results are presented showing the differences in sensory experiences. Showing the total, with both sensory experiences combined, and then Sight and Sound and Sight, Sound and Smell separately.

5.1. Multiple Regression with Sense of Power as Dependent Variable and Cognitive Flexibility as Independent Variable

Table 15 - Multiple regression with sense of power as dependent variable and cognitive flexibility as independent variable

Sensory Experience		В	Std. Error	ß	t	Sig	R²	adj.R ²
Sight + Sound + Smell	(Constant)	3.752	0.682		5.504	0.000		0.043
	Cognitive Flexibility	0.294	0.152	0.243	1.938	0.057	0.059	0.043
Sight + Sound	(Constant)	2.033	0.713		2.853	0.006		
	Cognitive Flexibility	0.649	0.158	0.464	4.094	0.000	0.216	0.203
Total	(Constant)	3.137	0.492		6.377	0.000		
	Cognitive Flexibility	0.417	0.109	0.325	3.809	0.000	0.105	0.098

Source: Own elaboration

A multiple regression was run to predict Sense of Power from Cognitive Flexibility (see table 15). Testing the total of the data (with both sensory experiences) it can be determined by looking at the ANOVA test table, the multiple regression model is valid as it has a significant value (0.000 < 0.05). Therefore, the variable Cognitive Flexibility is useful for to explanation Sense of Power.

By looking at the adjusted R squared results show that the variable Cognitive Flexibility explains almost 10% (9.8%) of the Sense of Power.

When looking at the results from the two sensory experiences separately, it can be determined that in both cases, individually, Cognitive flexibility is significant when explaining sense of

power (Sig<0.05), even though in the sensory experience with Sight, Sound and Smell the value is barely significant.

By comparing the Adjusted R squared, it can be stated that in the sensory experience with Sight + Sound cognitive flexibility explains much higher (20%) that in the sensory experience with Sight + Smell + Sound (4%).

In total, the results show that Cognitive Flexibility significantly predicts Sense of Power, F (1, 123) = 14,506, p < 0.05, $R^2 = 0.105$.

Therefore, the H1: Cognitive Flexibility has a positive and significant effect on Sense of Power is supported.

Graphs 1 and 2, represent the Liner Regression of Cognitive Flexibility and Sense of Power in each sensory experience





5.2. Multiple Regression with Intention to Return as Dependent Variable and Sense of Power as Independent Variable

Table 16 - Multiple Regression Analysis with of Intention to Return as Dependent Variable and Sense of Power as Independent Variable

Sensory Experience		В	Std. Error	ß	t	Sig	R²	adj.R ²
Sight + Sound + Smell	(Constant)	6,465	0.972		6.653	0.000		
	Cognitive Flexibility							
	1 10.110 1110	-0.244	0.189	-0.164	-1.289	0.202	0.027	0.011
Sight + Sound	(Constant)	4.671	1.055		4.429	0.000		
	Cognitive							
	Flexibility							
		0.047	0.212	0.029	0.224	0.823	0.001	-0.016
Total	(Constant)	5.593	0.713		7.843	0.000		
	Cognitive							
	Flexibility	-0.105	0.141	-0.748	-0.748	0.456	0.005	-0.004
						~	~	

Source: Own elaboration

Looking at the ANOVA test table, at the significant value (0.823 > 0.05), results show that the multiple regression model is not valid. The variable Sense of Power is not useful in explaining Intention to Return. H2: Sense of power positively and significantly impacts intention to return is not supported.

6. Moderation Analysis

Moderation occurs when the relationship between a dependent variable and an independent variable depends on a third variable. This third variable is named moderator. A moderator variable is a variable that alters the strength of the relationship between the two variables.

For this study, as mentioned in the hypothesis, the moderators that are tested are personality traits and sensorial experience.

6.1. Personality traits as a moderator on the relationship between Cognitive Flexibility and Sense of Power

As stated in the theoretical part of this thesis, the scale for Personality Traits was based on the study conducted by Guido, Pelus, Capestro and Miglietta (2012). In the study there are 10 items that are used to study the personality (table 10).

A multi-regression analysis was conducted to determine the moderating effect that Personality Traits has on the relationship between Sense of Power and Cognitive Flexibility.

The change in \mathbb{R}^2 is 3.8% which is represents the percentage increase in the variation explained by the addition of the interaction term. It can also be stated that this increase is statistically significant (p < .0005), a result we obtain from the "Sig. F Change" column. We can conclude that personality traits do moderate the relationship between sense of power and cognitive flexibility

Sense of power = 2.826 + (0.356 x cognitive flexibility) + (0.181 x personality traits) + (-0.134 x CFxPT)

H4: Personality Traits will moderate the relationship between Cognitive Flexibility and Sense of Power is supported.

									Change s	statistics
		В	Std. Error	ß	t	Sig	R²	adj. R²	R ² change	Sig. F Change
1	(Constant)	2.703	0.640		4.223	0.000	0.114	0.099	0.114	0.001
	Cognitive Flexibility	0.379	0.115	0.296	3.301	0.001				
	Personality Traits	0.180	0.169	0.095	1.062	0.291				
	(Constant)	2.826	0.631		4.479	0.000	0.152	0.13	0.038	0.022
	Cognitive Flexibility	0.356	0.113	0.278	3.143	0.002				
2	Personality Traits	0.181	0.166	0.096	1.088	0.279				
	CF_x_PT	-0.134	0.058	-0.195	-2.323	0.022		S	ource: Own	elaboratior

Table 17 – Moderation analysis total results – Sense of power as dependent variable and personality traits and cognitive flexibility as predictors.

a. Dependent Variable: Sense of Power

b. Predictors: (Constant). Personality Traits, Cognitive Flexibility

To determine if there was any variance in the moderation of Personality Traits according to the sensory experience, there was a comparison analyses between the sensory experiences Sigh + Sound and Sigh + Sound + Smell (table 18).

On table 18, it can also be observed the change in \mathbb{R}^2 which represents 7% for sensory experience with sigh, sound and smell and 22% for sensory experience with sight and sound, representing this way the percentage increase in the variation explained by the addition of the interaction term. It can also be stated that this increase is statistically significant for only the sensory experience with sight and sound (p < .0005).

It can be concluded that the moderation of personality traits in the relationship between sense of power and cognitive flexibility is only significant in the sensory experience with sight and sound.

										Change	statistcis
			В	Std. Error	ß	t	Sig	R²	adj. R²	R ² change	Sig. F Change
		(Constant)	2.947	1.000		2.947	0.005	0.078	0.047	0.078	0.092
	1	Cognitive Flexibility	0.268	0.153	0.221	1.746	0.086				
sight + sound + smell	1	Personality Traits	0.278	0.253	0.139	1.098	0.277				
		(Constant)	3.323	1.036		3.207	0.002	0.104	0.057	0.026	0.201
		Cognitive Flexibility	0.245	0.153	0.203	1.599	0.115				
	2	Personality Traits	0.201	0.259	0.100	0.776	0.441				
		CF_x_PT	-0.113	0.088	-0.167	-1.293	0.201				
		(Constant)	2.119	0.805		2.633	0.011	0.216	0.190	0.216	0.001
	1	Cognitive Flexibility	0.672	0.187	0.481	3.586	0.001				
sight	1	Personality Traits	-0.056	0.236	-0.032	-0.236	0.814				
+		(Constant)	1.925	0.790		2.437	0.018	0.268	0.231	0.052	0.045
sound		Cognitive Flexibility	0.611	0.185	0.437	3.305	0.002				
	2	Personality Traits	0.091	0.241	0.051	0.375	0.709				
		CF_x_PT	-0.167	0.081	-0.239	-2.049	0.045				

Table 18 – Moderation analysis by sensory experience – Sense of power as dependent variable and personality traits and cognitive flexibility as predictors

a. Dependent Variable: Sense of Power

b. Predictors: (Constant), Personality Traits, Cognitive Flexibility

Each of the items in the questionnaires regarding the personality traits item is used to analyze the type of personality in each of the five personality traits. In a total of 10 questions, there were 2 questions corresponding to each trait. As referred in the literature, the five traits are Openness, Agreeableness, Emotional Stability, Consciousness and Extroversion. Once determined that Personality Traits is in fact a moderator in the relationship between Cognitive Flexibility and Sense of Power, it was further analyzed the 5 traits of Personality and each of its impact in each sensory experience (see table 19).

Model	Unstandardize	d Coefficients	Standardized Coefficients	t	sig	R ²	R ²			
1110001	В	Std. Error	Beta	·	518		Adjusted			
			Openness							
Constant	3.175	0.655		4.844	0.000					
1 (High)	0.42	0.148	0.338	2.846	0.006	0.114	0.1			
Constant	2.991	0.77		3.885	0.000					
4 (Low)	0.436	0.169	0.321	2.583	0.012	0.103	0.088			
			Agreeableness							
Constant	3.537	0.633		5.588	0.000					
1 (High)	0.332	0.14	0.267	2.369	0.021	0.071	0.059			
Constant	2.284	0.79		2.891	0.006					
4 (Low)	0.601	0.177	0.441	3.402	0.001	0.194	0.177			
Emotional Stability										
Constant	2.349	0.699		3.358	0.001					
1 (High)	0.58	0.16	0.389	3.638	0.001	0.152	0.14			
Constant	4.438	0.68		6.529	0.000					
4 (Low)	0.161	0.146	0.159	1.105	0.275	0.025	0.005			
			Consciousness							
Constant	3.688	0.656		5.62	0.000					
1 (High)	0.297	0.147	0.244	2.03	0.046	0.06	0.045			
Constant	2.505	0.745		3.361	0.001					
4 (Low)	0.552	0.165	0.408	3.349	0.001	0.167	0.152			
			Extroversion							
Constant	3.229	0.614		5.259	0.000					
1 (High)	0.386	0.139	0.311	2.78	0.007	0.097	0.084			
Constant	3.093	0.86		3.599	0.001					
4 (Low)	0.44	0.187	0.319	2.355	0.023	0.102	0.083			

Table 19 - Division by personality traits and the impact of sensory experience

Source: Own elaboration

In **Openness**, both variable "Low" and "High" are significant (>0.05). However, by looking at the adjusted R², one can determine that for people with "high openness" the variable Cognitive Flexibility explains slightly more than for people with "low openness" (10% versus 8%)

In terms of **Agreeableness**, both variables are significant (sig. <0.05). When looking at the adjusted R², Low agreeableness clearly stands out. In Low Agreeableness about 14% of cognitive flexibility helps explaining Sense of Power, whereas in Hight Agreeableness the number drops to 5%.

Only High **Emotional Stability** is significant (sig 0.001 < 0.05). Individually, both Low and High Consciousness are significant for the model (sig. < 0.05). When observing the adjusted R², in High Emotional Stability about 14% of Cognitive Flexibility explains Sense of Power. However, in Low Consciousness the cognitive flexibility is not very important (less than 1%) in explaining Sense of Power.

High **Consciousness** has a Significance value 0,046. Low Consciousness on the other hand has a significance value of 0,001. Both are significant for the model (< 0.05).

Low Consciousness is significantly more important in explaining Sense of Power, in which cognitive flexibility is explaining about 15% of sense of power (Adjusted R squared = 0.152) opposed to 4% explained in High Consciousness ($R^2 = 0.045$)

High **Extroversion** has a Significance of 0.007 while Low Extroversion has Significance of 0.023. This means that they are both significant (<0.05).

Both variances, high and low extroversion, have the same importance in the relationship between cognitive flexibility and sense of power. Looking at the adjusted R^2 , they both explain about 8% of the model.

6.2. Sensory Experience as a moderator on the relationship Sense of Power and Intention to Return

Even though it was previously concluded that Sense of Power did not significantly have an impact on Intention to Return, a further test was conducted to determine if with the addition of the variable sensory experience, it would become significant.

By looking at test table 20, it can be determined that the model is not significant (sig > 0.05). The adjusted R^2 change is not significant. Meaning that even with the insertion of the variable psychological distance, the relationship between sense of power and intention to return is still not significant, the variable does not moderate this relation.

Therefore, the hypothesis H3: Sensory Experience will moderate the relationship between sense of power and intention to return is not supported.

Table 20 – Moderation analysis total results – Intention to return as dependent variable and psychological distance and sense of power as predictors

									Change st	atistics
		В	Std. Error	ß	t	Sig	R²	adj. R²	R ² change	Sig. F Change
	(Constant)	5.450	0.780		6.986	0.000	0.079 ^a	0.006	0.006	0.682
1	Sense of power	-0.101	0.142	-0.065	-0.715	0.476				
	Psychological Distance	0.033	0.071	0.042	0.459	0.647				
	(Constant)	5.280	0.795		6.644	0.000	.127 ^b	0.016	0.01	0.272
	Sense of power	-0.071	0.144	-0.045	-0.489	0.626				
2	Psychological Distance	0.035	0.071	0.044	0.490	0.625				
	SPxPD	-0.136	0.123	-0.101	-1.104	0.272				

a. Dependent Variable: Intetion to return

b. Predictors: (Constant). Sense of power, psychological distance,

SPxPD

Source: Own elaboration

7. Conclusion

7.1. Findings overview

A combination of different sensory stimulus was stated by Lindtrom (2008) to have much bigger impact on consumers and creates a stronger brand. This happens because, as stated by Spence (2002), the majority of the most amazing experiences people have in life are multisensory. This way, and to provide better experiences and more immersive ones, an increasing amount of companies are using use virtual technologies (Lau and Lee 2018). Therefore, this thesis was conducted on an experience in a Virtual environment. Along were studies in the model the concepts of cognitive flexibility, sense of power and return intentions.

Cognitive Flexibility, defined by Spiro, Coulson, Feltovich, and Anderson (1988) as a feature of executive functioning that supports diverse thinking and problem solving, was hypothesized and determined in this study to have a positive and significant effect on one's sense of power. It allows individuals to cope with an ever changing and complex environment (Easter and Schommer-Aikins, 2018). Power, which was described by Rucker, Galinsky and Dubois (2012) as pervasive and essential constituent of social systems and hierarchies, was inserted in this study in the notion of each person's own sense of power. That notion of sense of power was, and opposed to the literature, found to have no significant effect on the intention to return, also referred to a person's behavior. With the addition of the variable sensory experience, in which the individuals were impacted with different senses, the relationship between sense of power and intention to return still was not significant, neither there was a moderating effect by the variable sensory experience.

Personality traits, or attributes that each person possessed, are frequently divided in five big traits or factors of personality that explain personality attributes (Digman, 1990). As it is an important factor that differentiates each person, it was inserted in the model as a moderator and found to have an important and significant impact on the relationship between cognitive flexibility and sense of power.

7.2. Discussion

The positive effect of cognitive flexibility on sense of power, can be partially supported by the study by Anderson, John and Keltner (2012). Their study conclusions' on sense of power was that personal sense of power was coherent and organized in several levels of abstraction, they further stated that individuals can consistently measure their power in several forms of important relationships and groups, whether in single discrete dyadic interactions, longer-term relationships or in larger social groups. Supporting this notion, Anderson et al. (2012) concluded that the sense of power may continuously change depending on the situation and one's relationship with others. This means that people with higher sense of power easily adjust that power according to the group, the situation, the type of relationship. Essentially, that these individuals adjust easily. Therefore, possess a higher cognitive flexibility. Furthermore, individuals with high cognitive flexibility are less likely to doubt the necessity of change and they perceive less fear and much more positivism when facing changes (Chung, Su, & Su, 2012). An individual with high power has by assumption, less doubts, therefore confirming again, that cognitive flexibility has an impact on sense of power. Individuals with higher cognitive flexibility that adjust to new situations with ease, are much more likely to embrace virtual technology much better than those with low cognitive flexibility. The same goes for people with higher sense of power. They will show curiosity and promptness to try something new and adventurous such as VR.

Several studies have stated that an individual's subjective sense of power frequently has greater impact on behavior than the amount of power one actually possesses (Smith, Wigboldus, and Dijksterhuis, 2008) and that power not only alters consumption behavior, information processing, and a person's motivation but also it was also found to be related to consumers' purchasing behaviors such as the way they purchase, and their reactions to prices (Zou et al., 2014). When it comes to the second hypothesis, it was stated that sense of power has a positive and significant impact on return intention. This hypothesis was not verified. The hypothesis was formed based on the literature and the main assumption that people with low power, feel an aversive psychological state, and to attenuate that state they will seek to compensate and diminish those feelings of powerlessness (Rucker and Galinsky, 2008).

However, the results of this study go with line with findings by Magee and Galinsky (2008). These authors suggested that there is no power-compensatory behaviour verified in low power

individuals and that there is no effect on spending for objects not associated with status. Posing the same idea, Rucker and Galinsky (2008) results show that power-induced differences through episodic recall expressively affected consumers' disposition to purchase products as a function of product status. When the products were not status related, power had no significant effect on the individuals' disposition to purchase. Therefore, there should be no relation to power.

In this study, unlike most studies, the object in question was not a status related product, in fact, it was not even a product, but a coffee place. The behavioral analysis in this study focused on intention to return to that coffee place. However, in the previous literature review, studies mainly focused on sense of power's impact on purchasing intentions and decisions, of either low or high-status products. However, in this study it was concluded that sense of power, unlike purchasing intentions, does not have an influence on the individual's behavior regarding intention to return. Even with the addition of another variable, psychological distance, the relationship is still not significant (table 20).

One aspect that most likely had an effect on the results, was the virtual environment. The need to understand and to study the effects that virtual reality might have on consumer behavior is essential for companies who which to adopt this technology. Does it usage have an impact sales? Does it affect customer retention? Does it increase customer's return intentions? Does it benefit somehow the companies' image? For this reason, it was decided to test if sense of power would affect intention to return in a café environment.

Focusing on return intentions, and by looking at table 14, results show differences in return intentions regarding the different sensory experiences. The means of the results are higher for respondents in the sensory experience with sight + sound + smell (proximal senses) than in those in the experience with just sight + sound (distal senses). The results show that participants reflected more interest and positive intentions to return to the virtual cafe when immersed in a proximal sensory experience than in a distal one. In addition, these results could also be explained by the wider variety of sensory cues. In one sensory experience the individual was exposed to three different senses (sight, sound and smell) and on the other was exposed to only two senses (sight and sound). As mentioned by Lidnstrom (2008) vision and hearing are not enough to impress consumers, the touch, smell and flavors are crucial in the

construction of a truly relevant brand. Meaning that the more senses an induvial is exposed to, the better.

The third hypothesis of this study stated that personality traits would play a moderating role on the relationship between cognitive flexibility and sense of power. This hypothesis has been proved valid and goes in line with the literature. Theorists in education have proposed that individual differences in critical thinking result from a combination of cognitive ability and personality dispositions (Clifford, Boufal and Kurtz, 2004). As mentioned by Roberts (2009) personality traits characterize the individuals' typical ways of responding to distinct situations trough lasting, automatic outlines of thoughts, feelings, and behaviors.

It is mostly consensual that most important individual differences in personality traits are organized into the "big five" personality dimensions: extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism (opposite of emotional stability) and openness to experience (Goldberg, 1993).

Looking at the distinct dimensions of personality, individuals that rate high in extroversion tend to be more sociable, energetic, talkative, outgoing, and enthusiastic (Costa and McCrae, 1992; Thoms, Moore, and Scott, 1996). These types of people report higher levels of self-efficacy and competence (Thoms et al., 1996). These individuals are therefore likely to possess higher sense of power and to be more cognitive flexible, and low extroverted people tend to be the opposite. As Martin and Rubin (1995) stated, cognitive flexibility refers to a person's self-efficacy in being flexible, and even though people may be aware that there are other way to behave in any situation they also need to believe that these are self-efficacious in bringing out the desired behavior. By looking at the results in table 21, we can see that people rating both higher and lower in extroversion, are both significant in explaining the relationship between cognitive flexibility and sense of power.

Molleman, Nauta, and Jehn (2004) and Van Vianen and De Dreu (2001) found that individuals who are low in neuroticism, that are more emotionally stable, are self-confident. People with self-confidence possess a higher sense of power than those with less confidence and are assumed to have enough confidence to react and adjust their behavior according to the different situations. The results found in this study go in line with the literature, people that are more emotionally stable (less neurotic) are much better in explaining the relationship between cognitive flexibility and sense of power (table 21).

Individuals high in agreeableness are friendly, helpful, altruistic, modest, trusted, and straightforward (Costa and McCrae, 1992). According to (Anderson and Galinsky 2006; Galinsky et al. 2003), inducing feelings of being powerful, as opposed to powerless, tends to foster optimism and action. Furthermore, people who tend to agree as opposed to disagree, tend to adjust better to the circumstances, and more open. As we can see in table 21, results show that people who are less agreeable are more important in explaining the relationship between cognitive flexibility and sense of power than those who are more agreeable.

High conscientious individuals are thorough, responsible, self-disciplined, organized, selfmotivated, achievement-oriented and task-oriented (Barrick & Mount, 1991; Costa & McCrae, 1992; Goldberg, 1993). Previous research has also identified that high conscientious individuals are motivated to accomplish goals (Costa & McCrae, 1992). People with high sense of power are goal oriented specially when it comes to be able to influence others. It is interesting to find in the results that in fact people with lower consciousness are better in explaining the relation between cognitive flexibility and sense of power in the model (table 21).

Characteristics such as creativity, broad-mindedness, and willingness to experiment or to try new things have been used to describe individuals who are high in openness (LePine, 2003; Molleman et al., 2004). In addition, individuals who are high in openness are more flexible and creative (Roesch, Wee, and Vaughn, 2006). Both types of respondents, with high and low openness, were found to be significant in explaining the relationship between the variable's cognitive flexibility and sense of power.

Focusing on the fourth and final hypothesis regarding sensory experience and its moderating effect on the relation between sense of power and return intentions, the hypothesis was not verified. Once determined that sense of power had no significant effect on return intentions, the possibility that with the insertion of another variable, namely this fourth hypothesis, could make the relation significant. However, it did not happen. There was no distinction between the sensory experience with sight + sound and sight + sound + smell in the relationship between sense of power and return intentions. The relation between the two remains insignificant. It should be taken into account that the sensory experience was made before the

questionnaire, participants were sensory impacted before they were asked the questions. Therefore, when asked the questions to measure their sense of power and cognitive flexibility, they were no longer being exposed to the sensory experiences, not at the exact moment.

This study further contributed to the literature by supporting the study conducting by Elder et al (2017). It was applied the variable psychological distance through the analysis of the sensory experience. The results found that accordingly to Elder et al (2017) study, in the sensory experience with Sight + Sound (distal senses) the respondents imagined the coffee as being further away from them as opposed to the sensory experience with Sight + Sound + Smell (proximal senses) where the coffee was stated as being closer. Thus, it can be concluded that not only imagined senses can be psychologically more proximal or distal based on the maximum physical distance typically required for a stimulus to be sensed but the same happens for virtual reality. In this study it was not asked to the participants to "imagine" but to recall what they experienced in the virtual coffee shop.

7.3. Managerial Implications

The current dissertation provides practical implications for marketing managers who are looking for a different technological and sensorial approaches in their marketing strategies. Brands are facing several changes in the environment, as everything has become more technological and people are living on a digital basis. Also, every day, brands are trying to captivate client's five senses to capture their attention.

This study provided key elements that companies must pay attention to. The importance of the client's cognitive flexibility and how they adapt to the environment, this can be very important when designing a store for example. This cognitive flexibility will have an impact on the client's sense of power. Even though the sense of power will not impact the costumer's intention to return to the store, it will, according to the literature, impact their purchase behavior. Thus, it must be something companies should take into account.

Another finding in this study that can be truly beneficial for companies is that in the return intentions results, it was found that the participants responses were more positive when in a sensory experience with sigh, sound and smell then in an experience with just the senses of

sight and sound. This finding goes in line with studies by Lindtrom (2008), the more senses associated with a brand the more relevant a brand becomes.

Finally, and most importantly, the virtual reality technology as a mean to captivate clients and to maintain the existent ones. The impressiveness in VR, the curiosity it brings in people and desire to experiment can be an opportunity for brands. When asked about the return intentions to the virtual coffee place, most respondents responded positive intentions (table 14).

7.4. Limitations and future research

Considering the conclusions of the present research and the contributions it provided, this study still presents some limitations should be considered. First of all, the sample size is relatively restrictive, as the research relied on the data provided by 122 experiences. Although the number is considered, the results might have been better fused if the sample was larger. Additionally, this study participants consisted of only Portuguese people. Future research could compare results between different cultures as the results are likely to be different among different cultures. Addressing the relationship of power status, for example, it was stated by Magee and Galinsky (2008) that the degree to which an individual or group is respected or esteemed by others is likely to vary across cultures.

It should also should be taken into account that in this study, the participants were first immersed in a VR experiment, in a virtual café, and then they were asked to fill the questionnaire to explore the variables sense of power, cognitive flexibility, personality traits, psychological distance and return intentions. In future research, it could be really interesting to insert the questionnaire while the participant was in the VR experience. This would most likely affect the results on psychological distance (it would not be a question of recalling but to actually visualizing the object) and on return intentions.

Finally, it could be interesting, for future studies, to analyze purchasing behavior instead of intention to return. Several authors have studied the impact of sense of power on purchase behavior, it could be interesting to explore if the results are the same when immersed in a virtual reality experience, a virtual store for example.

8. References

- Alghamdi, M., Regenbrecht, H., Hoermann, S., & Swain, N. 2017. Mild stress stimuli built into a non-immersive virtual environment can elicit actual stress responses. *Behaviour and Information Technology*, *36*(9): 913–934.
- Algom, Daniel, and William S. Cain 1991. "Remembered Odors and Mental Mixtures: Tapping Reservoirs of Olfactory Knowledge," *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 17 (4): 1104–119.
- Anderson, C., & Galinsky, A. D. 2006. Power, optimism, and risk-taking. *European Journal* of Social Psychology, 36(4): 511–536.
- Anderson, C., John, O. P., & Keltner, D. 2012. The Personal Sense of Power. Journal of Personality, 80(2): 313–344.
- Aron, A., Aron, E. N., & Smollan, D. 1992. Inclusion of Other in the Self Scale and the Structure of Interpersonal Closeness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63: 596-612
- Babin, B., Darden, W. R., & Griffin, M. 1994. Work and/or fun: Measuring hedonic and utilitarian shopping value. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20(4): 644–655.
- Baker, D. A., & Crompton, J. L. 2000. Quality, satisfaction and behavioral intentions. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 27(3): 785–804.
- BARRICK, M. R., & MOUNT, M. K. 1991. the Big Five Personality Dimensions and Job Performance: a Meta-Analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 44(1): 1–26.
- Batra, R., & Ahtola, O. T. 1990. Measuring the hedonic and utilitarian sources of consumer attitudes. *Marketing Letters*, 2(2): 159–170.
- Bensafi, Moustafa, Noam Sobel, and Rehan M. K. 2007. "Hedonic-Specific Activity in Piriform Cortex During Odor Imagery Mimics That during Odor Perception," *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 98 (6): 3254–62
- Berg, L. P., & Vance, J. M. 2017. Industry use of virtual reality in product design and manufacturing: a survey. *Virtual Reality*, 21(1): 1–17.
- Bradford TW, Grier SA, Henderson GR. 2017 Weight loss through virtual support communities: a role for identity-based motivation in public commitment. *J Interact Mark* 40: 9–23
- Brooks FP. 1999. What's real about virtual reality? *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications* 19(6):16
- Buss, D. M., & Craik, K. H. 1983. The act frequency approach to personality. *Psychological Review*, *90*(2): 105–126.

- Catterall, M., Maclaran, P. 2001. Researching consumers in virtual worlds: a cyberspace odyssey. *Journal of Consumer Behavior* 1 (3): 228–237.
- Chiu, C., Hong, Y., & Dweck, C. S. 1997. Lay dispositionism and implicit theories of personality. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73: 19–30.
- Chung, S.-H., Su, Y.-F., & Su, S.-W. 2012. The impact of cognitive flexibility on resistance to organizational change. Social Behavior and Personality: *An International Journal*, 40(5): 735–745.
- Clifford, J. S., Boufal, M. M., & Kurtz, J. E. 2004. Personality traits and critical thinking skills in college students: Empirical tests of a two-factor theory. *Assessment*, *11*(2): 169–176.
- Conley JJ. 1985. Longitudinal stability of personality traits: A multitrait-multimethodmultioccasion analysis. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 49: 1266-1282.
- Conrad, J. .2017. 5 ways to build loyalty with digitally demanding consumers. ATMmarketplace.Com. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edb&AN=124711021&site=eds -live
- Costa, P. T., Jr., & McCrae, R. R. 1992. Revised NEO personality inventory and new fivefactor inventory: Professional manual. *Odessa: Psychological Assessment Resources*.
- David C. Edelman. 2010. December 2010 Issue. Harvard Business Review
- De Haan, E., Kannan, P. K., Verhoef, P. C., & Wiesel, T. 2018. Device switching in online purchasing: Examining the strategic contingencies. *Journal of Marketing*
- Deak, G. O. 2003. The development of cognitive flexibility and language abilities. *Advances in Childhood Development and Behavior*, 31: 271–327.
- Deloitte. 2016. Retail Trends in 2016, (accessed December 12, 2016), [https://www2.deloitte.com/uk/en/pages/consumer-business/articles/ retail-trends-2016.html]
- Dennis, J. P., & Vander Wal, J. S. 2010. The cognitive flexibility inventory: Instrument development and estimates of reliability and validity. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 34(3): 241–253.
- Digman JM. 1990. Personality structure: Emergence of the five-factor model. *Annual Review* of *Psychology*, 41: 417-440
- Dinh, Q.,Walker, N., Song, C., Kobayashi, A. and Hodges, L. 1999. "Evaluating the Importance of Multi-Sensory Input on Memory and the Sense of Presence in Virtual Environments," *Virtual Reality*, IEEE: 222–8

- DiPietro, R. B., & Levitt, J. 2019. Restaurant Authenticity: Factors That Influence Perception, Satisfaction and Return Intentions at Regional American-Style Restaurants. *International Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Administration*, 20(1): 101–127.
- Djordjevic, J., Zatorre, R., Petrides, M., and Jones-Gotman, M. 2004. "The Mind's Nose: Effects of Odor and Visual Imagery on Odor Detection," *Psychological Science*, 15 (3): 143–48.
- Elder, R. S., Schlosser, A. E., Poor, M., & Xu, L. 2017. So close i can almost sense it: The interplay between sensory imagery and psychological distance. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *44*(4): 877–894.
- Erdley, C., & Dweck, C. S. 1993. Children's implicit personality theories as predictors of their social judgments. *Child Development*, 64: 863–878.
- Eroglu, Sevgin A. and Karen A. Machleit. 1990. "An Empirical Study of Retail Crowding: Antecedents and Consequences," *Journal of Retailing*, 66 (2): 201–221.
- Faroughian, F. F., S. P. Kalafatis, L. Ledden, P. Samouel, and M. H. Tsogas. 2012. "Value and Risk in Business-to-Business e-Banking." *Industrial Marketing Management* 41 (1): 68–81.
- Feng, M., Dey, A., & Lindeman, R. W. 2016. The effect of multi-sensory cues on performance and experience during walking in immersive virtual environments. *Proceedings - IEEE Virtual Reality*, 2016-July: 173–174.
- Feng, Mi, Arindam Dey, and Robert W. Lindeman. 2016. "An Initial Exploration of a Multi-Sensory Design Space: Tactile Support for Walking in Immersive Virtual Environments," 3D User Interfaces (3DUI), *IEEE*: 95–104
- Flavián, C., Ibáñez-Sánchez, S., & Orús, C. 2019. Integrating virtual reality devices into the body: effects of technological embodiment on customer engagement and behavioral intentions toward the destination. Journal of Travel and Tourism
- Fleischer, R. A., & Chertkoff, J. M. 1986. Effects of dominance and sex on leader selection in dyadic work groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *50*(1): 94-99.
- Galinsky, A. D., Gruenfeld, D. H., & Magee, J. C. 2003. From power to action. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(3): 453–466
- Goldberg, L. R. 1993. The structure of phenotypic personality traits. *American Psychologist*, 48: 26–34.
- Grewal, D., Roggeveen, A. L., & Nordfält, J. 2017. The Future of Retailing. *Journal of Retailing*, 93(1): 1–6.
- Guido, G., Peluso, A. M., Capestro, M., & Miglietta, M. 2015. An Italian version of the 10item Big Five Inventory: An application to hedonic and utilitarian shopping values. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 76: 135–140.

- Hanzaee, K. H., & Farzaneh, S. 2012. Exploring the role of personality traits and perceived expertise as antecedents of relationship marketing in service context. *Research Journal of Applied Sciences, Engineering and Technology*, 4(19): 3723–3731.
- Helmefalk, M., & Hultén, B. 2017. Multi-sensory congruent cues in designing retail store atmosphere: Effects on shoppers' emotions and purchase behavior. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 38(November 2016): 1–11.
- Herrmann, A., Zidansek, M., Sprott, D. E., & Spangenberg, E. R. 2013. The Power of Simplicity: Processing Fluency and the Effects of Olfactory Cues on Retail Sales. *Journal of Retailing*, 89(1): 30–43.
- Hong, I. B., and H. S. Cha. 2013. "The Mediating Role of Consumer Trust in an Online Merchant in Predicting Purchase Intention." *International Journal of Information Management* 33 (6): 927–939.
- Hong, Z., and L. Yi. 2012. "Research on the Influence of Perceived Risk in Consumer Online Purchasing Decision." *Physics Procedia* 24: 1304–1310.
- Howells, T.H. 1944, "The Experimental Development of Color- Tone Synesthesia," *Journal* of *Experimental Psychology*, 34 (2): 87–103.
- Hui, Michael K. and John E.G. Bateson. 1991. "Perceived Control and the Effects of Crowding and Consumer Choice on the Service Experience," *Journal of Consumer Research*, 18 (2): 174–84
- Hultén, B. 2017. Branding by the five senses: a sensory branding framework. *Journal of Brand Strategy*, 6(3), 281–292. Retrieved from http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/hsp/jbs/2017/0000006/00000003/art00009
- Ijzerman, H. and Gün R. S. 2009. "The Thermometer of Social Relations: Mapping Social Proximity on Temperature," *Psychological Science*, 20 (10): 1214–20.
- Jain, S. P., Mathur, P., & Maheswaran, D. 2009. The influence of consumers' lay theories on approach and avoidance motivation. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 46: 56–65.
- Keltner, D., Gruenfeld, D. H., & Anderson, C. 2003. Power, approach, and inhibition. *Psychological Review*, 110(2): 265–284.
- Kim, D. J., L. F. Ferrin, and H. R. Rao. 2008. "A Trust-Based Consumer Decision-Making Model in Electronic Commerce: The Role of Trust, Perceived Risk, and Their Antecedents." *Decision Support Systems* 44 (2): 544–564.
- Kleinsman-Leusink-Hill, B., Bronlund, J., & Gupta, G. Sen. 2018. Thermal and haptic interface design: Adding sensory feedback to VR/AR. *I2MTC 2018 2018 IEEE International Instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference: Discovering New Horizons in Instrumentation and Measurement, Proceedings*: 1–6.

- Krishna A, Elder RS, Caldara C. 2010. Feminine to smell but masculine to touch? Multisensory congruence and its effect on the aesthetic experience. *Journal of Consumer Psychology* 20:410-418
- Krishna, A., Morrin, M., & Sayin, E. 2014. Smellizing Cookies and Salivating: A Focus on Olfactory Imagery. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 41(1): 18–34.
- Kuenzel, S., & Yassim, M. 2007. The effect of joy on the behaviour of cricket spectators: The mediating role of satisfaction. *Managing Leisure*, 12(1): 43e57.
- Kumar, A., and D. B. Grisaffe. 2004. "Effects of Extrinsic Attributes on Perceived Quality, Customer Value, and Behavioral Intentions in b2b Settings: A Comparison Across Goods and Service Industries." *Journal of Business-to-Business Marketing* 11 (4): 43– 74.
- Kumar, V., Pozza, I. D., & Ganesh, J. 2013. Revisiting the satisfaction-loyalty relationship: Empirical generalizations and directions for future research. *Journal of Retailing*, 89(3): 246–262.
- Lau, K. W., & Lee, P. Y. 2018. Shopping in virtual reality: a study on consumers' shopping experience in a stereoscopic virtual reality. *Virtual Reality*, *23*(3): 255–268.
- Lee, B.C.Y., 2007. Consumer attitude toward virtual stores and its correlates. *Journal of retailing and consumer services* 14 (3): 182–191.
- Lemley, M. and Volokh, E. 2018. University of Pennsylvania Law Review. *University of Pennsylvania Law Review*, 115(4): 485–559. Law, virtual reality, and augmented reality mark.
- LePine, J. A. 2003. Team adaptation and post change performance: Effects of team composition in terms of members' cognitive ability and personality. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1): 27–39
- Li, F., Wen, J., & Ying, T. 2018. The influence of crisis on tourists' perceived destination image and revisit intention: An exploratory study of Chinese tourists to North Korea. *Journal of Destination Marketing and Management*, 9 (August 2016),
- Liu, R., Mackenzie H. and Simons, C. 2018. Using Immersive Technologies to Explore the Effects of Congruent and Incongruent Contextual Cues on Context Recall, Product Evaluation Time, and Preference and Liking During Consumer Hedonic Testing. *Food Research International*
- Lombart, C., Millan, E., Normand, J. M., Verhulst, A., Labbé-Pinlon, B., & Moreau, G. 2019. Consumer perceptions and purchase behavior toward imperfect fruits and vegetables in an immersive virtual reality grocery store. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 48(July 2017): 28–40.

- Lord, R. G., De Vader, C. L., & Alliger, G. M. 1986 A Meta-Analysis of the Relation between Personality Traits and Leadership Perceptions: Procedures. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71: 402-410.
- Luo, X. and Homburg, C. 2007. "Neglected Outcomes of Customer Satisfaction," Journal of Marketing, 71: 133–49.
- Lynn, M., Zinkhan, G. M. & Harris, J. 1993. Consumer tipping: a cross-country study. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20: 478-488
- Machleit, K., Eroglu, S. and Mantel, S. 2000. "Perceived Retail Crowding and Shopping Satisfaction: What Modifies This Relationship?" *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 9 (1): 29–42.
- Madzharov, A. V., Block, L. G., & Morrin, M. 2015. The Cool Scent of Power: Effects of Ambient Scent on Consumer Preferences and Choice Behavior. *Journal of Marketing*, 79(1): 83–96.
- Magee, J. C., and A. D. Galinsky. 2008. The self-reinforcing nature of social hierarchy: Origins and consequences of power and status. *In Academy of Management annals*, ed. J. P. Walsh and A. P. Brief, 2: 351–358. London: Taylor and Francis
- Main, K. J., Penner, S., & Bullard, O. 2019. Can Implicit Theory Influence Construal Level? *Journal of Consumer Psychology.*
- Manis, K. T., & Choi, D. 2018. The virtual reality hardware acceptance model (VR-HAM): Extending and individuating the technology acceptance model (TAM) for virtual reality hardware. *Journal of Business Research*, (October): 0–1.
- Martin, M. M., & Rubin, R. B. 1995. A New Measure of Cognitive Flexibility. *Psychological Reports*, *76*(2): 623–626.
- Meehan, M., S. Razzaque, M. C. Whitton, J. Brooks, and P. Frederick. 2003. "Effect of Latency on Presence in Stressful Virtual Environments." In IEEE Virtual Reality. Proceedings: 141–148. Los Angeles, CA: IEEE.
- Meißner, M., Pfeiffer, J., Pfeiffer, T., & Oppewal, H. 2017. Combining virtual reality and mobile eye tracking to provide a naturalistic experimental environment for shopper research. *Journal of Business Research*.
- Michelon, P., Vettel, J. and Zacks, J. 2006, "Lateral Somatotopic Organization during Imagined and Prepared Movements," *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 95 (2): 811–22.
- Michon, R., Chebat, J. and Turley, L.W. 2005. "Mall Atmospherics: The Interaction Effects of the Mall Environment on Shopping Behavior," *Journal of Business Research*, 58 (5): 576–83.
- Molleman, E., Nauta, A., & Jehn, K. A. 2004. Person–job fit applied to teamwork: A multilevel approach. Small Group Research, 35(5): 515–539

- Mollen, A., & Wilson, H. 2010. Engagement, telepresence and interactivity in online consumer experience: Reconciling scholastic and managerial perspectives. *Journal of Business Research*, 63(9–10): 919–925.
- Müller-Lankenau C, Wehmeyer K. 2005. e-Service quality in a multi-channel environment: quality management and the web channel. In Proceedings of the European academy of management conference, EURAM 2005, Munich
- Nielsen, E. G. 2015. The Coffee Shop Effect: Investigating the Relationship between Ambient Noise and Cognitive Flexibility. *The University of Western Ontario*
- Novak, T., Hoffman, P., Donna, L., & Yung, Y.-F. 2000. Measuring the customer experience in online environments: A structural modeling approach. *Marketing Science*, 19(1): 22–42.
- Obrist, M., Velasco, C., Vi, C., Ranasinghe, N., Israr, A., Cheok, A., Spence, C. and Gopalakrishnakone, P. 2016. "Touch, Taste, & Smell User Interfaces: The Future of Multisensory HCI," paper presented at CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, ACM: 3285–92.
- Orth, U. R., & Bourrain, A. 2008. The influence of nostalgic memories on consumer exploratory tendencies: Echoes from scents past. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 15(4): 277–287.
- Pantano, E., & Servidio, R. 2012. Modeling innovative points of sales through virtual and immersive technologies. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 19(3),
- Pantano, E., Iazzolino, G., Migliano, G., 2013. Obsolescence risk in advanced technologies for retailing: a management perspective. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* 20: 225–233.
- Pappas, N. 2017. Effect of marketing activities, benefits, risks, confusion due to over-choice, price, quality and consumer trust on online tourism purchasing. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 23(2): 195–218.
- Peck, Joann, Victor A. Barger, and Andrea Webb. 2013. "In Search of a Surrogate for Touch: The Effect of Haptic Imagery on Perceived Ownership," *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 23 (2):189–96
- Petit, O., Velasco, C., & Spence, C. (2019). Digital Sensory Marketing: Integrating New Technologies Into Multisensory Online Experience. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 45, 42–61.
- Peukert, C., Pfeiffer, J., Meißner, M., Pfeiffer, T., & Weinhardt, C. 2019. Shopping in Virtual Reality Stores: The Influence of Immersion on System Adoption. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 36(3): 755–788.

- Poon, C. S. K., & Koehler, D. J. 2006. Lay personality knowledge and dispositionist thinking: A knowledge- activation framework. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 42: 177–191.
- Rexha, N. 2000. Integrating relationship marketing activities with offering quality in the supplier's relational marketing program. *Journal of Business-to-Business Marketing*, 7(1): 1–17.
- Roberts, B. W. 2009. Back to the future: Personality and assessment and personality development. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 43: 137–145.
- Rodaway, Paul (2002), Sensuous Geographies: Body, Sense and Place, New York: Routledge.
- Roesch, S. C., Wee, C., & Vaughn, A. A. 2006. Relations between the Big Five personality traits and dispositional coping in Korean Americans: Acculturation as a moderating factor. *International Journal of Psychology*, 41(2): 85–96
- Roper, S., Iglesias, O., & Rodrigues, C. 2019. Sensory Branding: Special Issue following the 12th Global Brand Conference, Linnaeus University, Sweden. *Journal of Business Research*, 96: 340–342.
- Rucker, D. D., & Galinsky, A. D. 2008. Desire to Acquire: Powerlessness and Compensatory Consumption. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 35(2): 257–267.
- Rucker, D. D., Galinsky, A. D., & Dubois, D. 2012. Power and consumer behavior: How power shapes who and what consumers value. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 22(3): 352–368
- Saren M, Harwood T, Ward J, Venkatesh A. 2013. Marketing beyond the frontier? Researching the new marketing landscape of virtual worlds. *Journal of Marketing Management*. 29(13–14):1435–1442
- Seiders, Kathleen, Glenn B. Voss, Dhruv Grewal and Andrea L. Godfrey. 2005. "Do Satisfied Customers Buy More? Examining Moderating Influences in a Retailing Context," *Journal of Marketing*, 69 (4): 26–43
- Smith, P. K., Wigboldus, D. H. J., & Dijksterhuis, A. 2008. Abstract thinking increases one's sense of power. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 44(2): 378–385.
- Smolentsev A, Cornick JE, Blascovich J. 2017. Using a preamble to increase presence in digital virtual environments. *Virtual Real* 21(3):153–164
- Spangenberg, E., Sprott, D., Grohmann, B. and Tracy, D. 2006. "Gender-Congruent Ambient Scent Influences on Approach and Avoidance Behaviors in a Retail Store," *Journal of Business Research*, 59 (November): 1281–7.

Spence C., Obrist, M., Velasco, C. and Ranasinghe, N. 2017, "Digitizing the Chemical Senses: Possibilities & Pitfalls," *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 107: 62–74

- Spence, C. 2002. The ICI Report on the Secret of the Senses. London, UK: The Communication Group.
- Spiro, R. J. Coulson, R. L., Feltovich, P. J., & Anderson, D. K. 1998. Cognitive flexibility theory: advanced knowledge acquisition in ill-structured domains. Southern Illinois University School of Medicine
- Steuer, J. 1992. Defining virtual reality: Dimensions determining telepresence. *Journal of Communication*, 42: 73–93.
- Suh, M., Moon, H., Han, H., & Ham, S. 2015. Invisible and Intangible, but Undeniable: Role of Ambient Conditions in Building Hotel Guests' Loyalty. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 24(7): 727–753.
- Szymanski, David M. and David H. Henard. 2001. "Customer Satisfaction: A Meta-analysis of the Empirical Evidence," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 29: 1–16.
- Taylor, D. G., Lewin, J. E., & Strutton, D. 2011. Friends, fans, and followers: Do ads work on social networks? *Journal of Advertising Research*, 51(1): 258-275.
- Thibaut, J. W., & Kelley, H. H. 1959. The social psychology of groups. *New Brunswick, NJ* US: Transaction Publishers.
- Thoms, P., Moore, K. S., & Scott, K. S. 1996. The relationship between self-efficacy for participating in self-managed work groups and the Big Five personality dimensions. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 17(4): 349–362.
- Trope, Y., & Liberman, N. 2003. Temporal Construal. *Psychological Review*, 110(3): 403–421.
- Trope, Y., & Liberman, N. 2010. "Construal-Level Theory of Psychological Distance," *Psychological Review*, 117 (2): 440–63.
- Trope, Y., Liberman, N. and Wakslak, C. 2007. "Construal Levels and Psychological Distance: Effects on Representation, Prediction, Evaluation, and Behavior," *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 17 (2): 83–95.
- Ulrich, M. 2015. Seeing is believing: Using the rhetoric of virtual reality to persuade. *Young Scholars in Writing*, 9: 5–18.
- Van R., Thomas J.L., Galetzka, M., Pruyn, A. and Garcia, J. 2008. "Human and Spatial Dimensions of Retail Density: Revisiting the Role of Perceived Control," *Psychology & Marketing*, 25 (4): 319–35.
- Van Vianen, A. E. M., & De Dreu, C. K. W. 2001. Personality in teams: Its relations to social cohesion, task cohesion, and team performance. *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, 10(2): 97–120

- Verhoef, P., Stephen, A., Kannan, P.K., Luo, X., Abhishek, V., Andrews, M. 2017. "Consumer Connectivity in a Complex, Technology-Enabled, and Mobile-Oriented World with Smart Products," *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 40: 1–8.
- Wai Lai, I. K. 2019. Hotel image and reputation on building customer loyalty: An empirical study in Macau. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 38(September 2018): 111–121
- Walshe, D., E. Lewis, K. O'Sullivan, and S. I. Kim. 2005. "Virtually Driving: Are the Driving Environments 'Real Enough' for Exposure Therapy with Accident Victims? An Explorative Study." *Cyber Psychology & Behavior* 8 (6): 532–537.
- Waterlander, W. E., Jiang, Y. N., Steenhuis, I. H. M., & Mhurchu, C. N. 2015. Using a 3D virtual supermarket to measure food purchase behavior: A validation study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 17(4): 107–111.
- Yoon, C., Kim, S. 2007. Convenience and TAM in a ubiquitous computing environment: the case of wireless LAN. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications* 6 (1): 102–112
- Yoon, G., & Vargas, P. T. 2014. Know thy avatar: The unintended effect of virtual-self representation on behavior. *Psychological Science*, 25: 1043–1045.
- Yorkston, E., Nunes, J. and Matta, S. 2010. "The Malleable Brand: The Role of Implicit Theories in Evaluating Brand Extensions," *Journal of Marketing*,74 (January): 80–93
- Zhao, M., & Xie, J. 2011. Effects of social and temporal distance on consumers' responses to peer recommendations. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 48(3): 486–496.

9. Appendix

Appendix I – Measurements items in the questionnaire

Constructs	Items	Portuguese	Source
Sense of Power	 I can get him/her/them to listen to what I say. My wishes do not carry much weight. I can get him/her/them to do what I want. Even if I voice them, my views have little sway. I think I have a great deal of power. My ideas and opinions are often ignored. Even when I try, I am not able to get my way. 	 Consigo fazer com que ouçam o que digo Os meus desejos/opiniões não são muitoo valorizados Consigo fazer com que façam o que quero Mesmo que me expresse, as minha opiniões têm pouca influência Penso que tenho bastante poder As minhas ideias e opiniões são muitas vezes ignoradas Mesmo quando tento, não consigo levar a minha avante 	Anderson, John, and Keltner (2011)
Cognitive Flexibility	 I can communicate an idea in many different ways I avoid new and unusual situations (Reversed) I feel like I never get to make decisions (Reversed) I can find workable solutions to seemingly unsolvable problems I seldom have choices when deciding how to behave (Reversed) I am willing to work at creative solutions to problems In any given situation, I am able to act appropriately My behavior is a result of conscious decisions that I make I have many possible ways of behaving in any given situation Io I have difficulty using my knowledge on a given topic in real-life situations (Reversed) I am willing to listen and consider alternatives for handling a problem I have the self-confidence necessary to try different ways of behaving 	 Consigo comunicar uma ideia de várias maneiras diferentes Eu evito situações novas e diferentes Eu evito situações novas e diferentes Eu sinto que nunca tenha oportunidade de tomar decisões Eu consigo arranjar soluções funcionais para problemas aparentemenete insoluveis Eu raramente tenho opções quando tenho de decidir como me comportar Eu estou disposto a trabalhar com soluções creativas para problemas Em qualquer situação, eu sou capaz de me comportar apropriamente O meu comportamente é resultado de decisões conscientes que tomo Eu tenho diversas maneiras de me comportar em qualquer situação 10. Eu tenho dificultade em usar o meu conhecimento num determinado assunto em situações reis Le uenho a auto-confiança necessária para experimentar diferentes formas de me comportar 	Martin and Rubin (1995)
Personality Traits			Guido, Peluso, Capestro and Miglietta (2015) DiPietro and Levitt
Intention to Return	2 - I will speak positively of this restaurant3 - I plan to make repeat purchases at this restaurant	 2- Vou falar positivamente deste restaurante 3- Tenciono fazer compras novamente neste restaurante 	(2019) based on Jang et al. (2011)
Psychological Distance	The circles varied in the distance between them (1 representing the least overlap (i.e., the greatest distance between themselves and the object), and 9 representing a complete overlap (i.e., minimal dis- tance). Choose one of the nine pictures of circles that best represented the relationship with the object given the imagined sensory experience	Os circulos variam na distância entre si (1 representa a menor sobreposição (ex: a maior distância entre eles e o objecto) e 9 representa uma sobreposição completa (ex: distância mínima). Escolha uma das nove imagens que melhor representam a relação entre o objecto e a experiência sensorial imaginada.	Elder et al. (2017)

Appendix II – Virtual Café



Appendix III – Online Questionnaire Main Study – Sensory experience Sight + Sound + Smell

Sensa Virtua	ições I	num	Café	em R	ealid	ade
Em média, A sua respos	, quantos	cafés be	ebe por d	ia ?		
SEGUINTE Nunca envie pala	wras-passe atra	avés dos Goog	le Forms.			
Este conteú	ido não foi criac	do nem aprova	do pela Google	. <u>Denunciar ab</u>	uso - <u>Termos -</u>	de Utilização
		Goog	l e Formi			
Sensaç Virtual	ões i	num	Café	em	Rea	lidac
*Obrigatório						
Classifique a	as segui	ntes afi	rmaçõe	s com b	ase na	seguin
1= Discordo forter concordo nem dis fortemente	mente; 2 = E cordo; 5= C	Discordo m Concordo u	oderadame m pouco 6=	ente; 3= Dis • Concordo	cordo um moderada	pouco 4= amente; 7=
Nas minhas	relações	s com o	s outros	s		
1. Consigo fa	azer con	n que oi	uçam o	que dig	0*	
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2. Os meus d	lesejos/	opiniõe	s não si	ão muit	o valori:	zados *
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3. Consigo fa	azer con	n que fa	içam o d	que que	ro *	7
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
A Maama au			o o minh	o opinii	ioo tâm	
4. Mesmo qu influência *	ie as ex	presse,	as minn	a opinio	bes tem	pouca
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
O 5. Penso que	O e tenho t	O Dastante	O e poder	•	0	0

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
7. Mes *	mo qua	ando ter 2	nto, não 3	consig	o levar	a minha 6	ideia a
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ANTERI	OR S	EGUINTE					
Nunca envi	e palavras-p	asse através	dos Google	Forms.			

Este conteúdo não foi criado nem aprovado pela Google. Denunciar abuso - Termos de Utilização

Sens Virtu	saçõe Ial	es nu	m Ca	afé er	n Rea	alidade	
*Obrigatório	0						
Com ba ou disce	ise no qi orda coi	ue sente m as seg	neste m uintes a	iomento, firmaçõe	em que s.	medida conc	orda
1= Discord	io fortemer	nte a 6= Con	cordo mode	radamente;			
1. Cons	igo com	nunicar u	ma ideia	de vária	s manei	ras diferentes	*
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
2.Tendo	o a evita	r situaçõ	es nova	s e difere	entes *		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
0.0:=+=						de sie % ee 🕇	
3. 51110	que nur	2	o oportu 3	4	e tomar 5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
4. Cons	igo arra	njar solu e não têr	ções fur	icionais	para prol	olemas que	
aparent	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
5. As m como m	inhas de ne comp	ecisões s oortar *	são limita	adas, qu	ando ten	ho de decidir	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	

	1	2	3	4	5	6
	0	0	0	0	0	0
7. Sou c situação	apaz de o, *	e me con	nportar a	propriad	lamente	em qual
	1	2	3	4	5	6
	0	0	0	0	0	0
. O me ue torr	u comp io *	ortamen	te é resu	ltado de	decisõe	s consci
	1	2	3	4	5	6
	0	0	0	0	0	0
). Tenho situação	o diversa o *	as mane	iras de n	ne comp	ortar em	qualque
). Tenho situação	o diversa o * 1	as mane 2	iras de n 3	ne comp 4	ortar em 5	qualque 6
. Tenho ituação	o diversa o * 1 O	2 O	iras de n 3 O	4 O	ortar em 5 O	qualque 6 O
). Tenho situação 10. Tenl letermi	o diversa o* 1 O no dificu nado as	as mane 2 O Ildade er sunto er	iras de n 3 O m usar o m situaçã	4 O meu cor čes reais	ortar em 5 O hecimer	qualque 6 O nto num
9. Tenho situação 10. Tenl letermi	o diversion 1 O no dificu nado as 1	2 O Ildade er sunto er 2	iras de n 3 O n usar o n situaçá 3	4 O meu cor čes reais 4	ortar em 5 O hhecimen * 5	qualque 6 O nto num 6
9. Tenho iituação 0. Tenl letermi	o diversa * 1 0 no dificu nado as 1 0	2 O Ildade er sunto er 2 O	iras de n 3 O n usar o n situaçio 3 O	4 O meu cor čes reais 4 O	ortar em 5 O hhecimer * 5 O	qualque 6 O nto num 6 O
9. Tenho situação 10. Tenh determi determi	o diversa 1 0 no dificu nado as 1 0 u dispo ar com u	2 O Ildade er sunto er 2 O sto a our um deter	iras de n 3 O n usar o n situaçi 3 O vir e con: minado	4 O meu cor čes reais 4 O siderar p	ortar em 5 0 hecimen * 5 0 ossiveis a *	qualque 6 Onto num 6 O alternat
). Tenho situação 10. Tenh letermi 11. Esto para lida	o diverse o * 1 O no dificu nado as 1 O u dispo ar com u 1	as mane 2 O Ildade er sunto er 2 O sto a our um deter 2	iras de n 3 O nusar o n situaçã 3 Vir e con: minado 3	4 O meu cor čes reais 4 O siderar p problem 4	ortar em 5 0 hecimen * 5 0 ssiveis a* 5	qualque 6 Onto num 6 O alternat

1	2	3	4	5	6
0	0	0	0	0	0
s	EGUINTE				
s	EGUINTE				

Sens	ações	s num	Café	em Re	ealida	de
*Obrigatório	dI					
De que r persona	naneira a lidade?	s segunte	s afirmaç	ões descr	evem a si	ы
1= Discordo um pouco 5	fortemente; = Concordo fo	2= Discordo u ortemente	m pouco 3= N	lão concordo	nem discordo;	; 4= Concordo
Vejo-me	como un	na pessoa				
1. Reserv	vada *					
	1	2	3	4	5	
	0	0	0	0	0	
2. Que te	ente a con 1	fiar*	3	4	5	
	0	0	0	0	0	
0 Tanda						
3. Tende	nciaimen 1	2 2	osa ^ 3	4	5	
	0	0	0	0	0	
4. Relaxa	ada, que l i	da bem c	om o stre:	ss *		
	1	2	3	4	5	
	0	0	0	0	0	
5. Com p	oucos int	teresses a	artisticos '	ŧ		
	1	2	3	4	5	
	0	0	0	0	0	

5. Com p	oucos int	teresses a	rtisticos	*	
	1	2	3	4	5
	0	0	0	0	0
6. Sociáv	el e extro	vertida *			
	4		2		-
	1	2	3	4	э
	0	0	0	0	0
7. Que te	nde a crit	ticar os ou	ıtros *		
	1	2	3	4	5
	0	0	0	0	0



72

8. Perfec	ionista 1	2	3	4	5
	0	0	0	0	0
9. Que fi	ca nervos	a com fac	cilidade *		
	1	2	3	4	5
	0	0	0	0	0
10. Com	uma ima	ginação n	nuito activ	/a *	
	1	2	3	4	5
	0	0	0	0	0
ANTERIOR	SEGUIN	ITE			
Nunca envie p	alavras-passe a	través dos Goog	jle Forms.		

Sensações num Café em Realidade Virtual

*Obrigatório

Na experiência que acabou de fazer, havia uma chávena de café em cima da mesa. Focando-se somente no sentido do olfacto imagine uma experiência sensorial em que interage esse café. Está a cheirar o café.

Na seguinte imagem estão representados dois circulos. Um dos circulos representa-o a si ("self"), e o outro circulo representa o café ("other").



Com base na experiência sensorial que imaginou, escolha a imagem que melhor representa a relação entre si e o café *



- O 3.
- O 4.
- O 5.
- O 6.
- 0 7.

ANTERIOR SEGUINTE

Nunca envie palavras-passe através dos Google Forms.
*Obrigatór	io								
Com base no que sente neste momento, em que medida concorda ou discorda com as seguintes afirmações.									
1= Discordo fortemente a 7= Concordo fortemente									
1. Reco	omenda	aria este	e café a	outros	*				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
2. Fala	ria pos	itivame	nte des	te café '	ŧ				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
3. Volt	aria a e	ste cafe	<u>.</u> *						
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
ANTERI	OR S	EGUINTE							
				_					

Este conteúdo não foi criado nem aprovado pela Google. <u>Denunciar abuso - Termos de Utilização</u>

Sensações num Café em Realidade Virtual

*Obrigatório
Perfil
Género *
O Feminino
O Masculino
Idade *
O 18-20
O 21-25
O 26-30
O 31-35
O 36-40
O 41-45
O 46-50
O +50
O Outra:

Educação *	
O Básica (9º ano)	
O Secundária (12ºano)	
O Licenciatura / Bacharelato	
O Mestrado / Pós-Graduação / Dourotamento	
O Outra:	
ANTERIOR SUBMETER	
Nunca envie palavras-passe através dos Google Forms.	
]
Este conteúdo não foi criado nem aprovado pela Google. <u>Denunciar abuso - Termos de Utilização</u>	
Google Formulários	

 $\label{eq:appendix} \textbf{IV} - \textbf{Online Questionnaire Main Study} - \textbf{Sensory experience Sight} + \textbf{Sound}$

Sensações num Café em Realidade Virtual
Em média, quantos cafés bebe por dia ? A sua resposta
SEGUINTE Nunca envie palavras-passe através dos Google Forms.
Este conteúdo não foi criado nem aprovedo pela Google. <u>Pernunciar abuso "Termos de Utilização</u> G oogle Formulários

Sen	saçõ	ões r	num	Café	em	Rea	lidad	е
Virti	lal							
*Obrigatór	io							
Classif	fique as	s seguir	ntes afir	mações	s com b	ase na	seguint	e escala:
1= Discor concordo fortement	do fortem nem disc te	ente; 2 = D ordo; 5= Co	iscordo mo oncordo un	oderadame n pouco 6=	nte; 3= Dis Concordo	cordo um moderada	pouco 4= N amente; 7= (lão Concordo
Nas mi	inhas r	elações	com o	s outros				
1. Con	sigo fa:	zer com	i que ou	icam o d	aue dia	o *		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
				~ ~				
2. Os n	neus de	2 2	opinioe: 3	s nao sa 4	5 5	o valori: 6	zados *	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
3. Con	sigo fa:	zer com	que fa	çam o q	lue que	°0 *		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
4. Mes influên	mo que cia *	e as exp	oresse, a	as minh	a opiniĉ	ies têm	pouca	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
C Dam								
5. Pen	1	2	astante 3	4 poder	5	6	7	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Mesmo	quando t	ento, não	consig	o levar	a minha	ideia a	vante
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
NTERIOR	SEGUINTE	rés dos Google	e Forms.				

Este conteúdo não foi criado nem aprovado pela Google. <u>Denunciar abuso</u> - <u>Termos de Utilização</u>

Sens Virtu *Obrigatório	açõe al	es nu	m Ca	ıfé er	n Rea	alidad	de
Com bas ou disco	se no qi orda cor	ue sente n as seg	neste m uintes af	omento, firmaçõe	, em que es.	medida	concorda
1= Discord	o fortemen	ite a 6= Con	cordo mode	radamente;			
1. Consi	go com	unicar u	ma ideia	de vária	is maneii	ras difer	entes *
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
2.Tendo	a evita	r situaçõ	es novas	s e difere	entes *		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
3. Sinto	aue nur	nca tenho	o oportu	nidade d	e tomar	decisõe	s*
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
4. Consi aparente	go arrai emenet	njar solu e não têr	ções fun n soluçã	cionais o *	para prol	olemas (que
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
5. As mi como m	nhas de e comp	ecisões s ortar *	são limita	adas, qu	ando ten	ho de de	ecidir
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	

	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
. Sou c	apaz de	e me con	nportar a	propriad	lamente	em qual	quer
situação	o, * 1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
3. O me que torr	u compo 10 *	ortamen	te é resu	ltado de	decisõe	s consci	entes
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
). Tenho situação	o diversa o * 1	as mane 2	iras de n 3	ne comp 4	ortar em 5	qualque 6	r
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
10. Tenl determi	no dificu nado as 1	Ildade er sunto er 2	n usar o n situaçó 3	meu cor ŏes reais 4	hecimer *	nto num 6	
		_					
	0	0	0	0	0	0	
11. Esto para lida	O ou dispo ar com u	O sto a our um deter	O vir e cons minado	O siderar p problem	O ossiveis a *	O alternati	ivas
11. Esto para lida	O ou dispo ar com u 1	O sto a our um deter 2	O vir e con minado 3	O siderar p problem 4	O ossiveis a * 5	O alternati	ivas

	0	5	4	3	2	1
\circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ	0	0	0	0	0	0
IOR SEGUINTE					UINTE	R SEG

Sens: Virtu:	ações al	s num	Café	em Re	ealida	de	
*Obrigatório							
De que n personal	naneira a idade?	s segunte	s afirmaç	ões descr	evem a su	Ia	
1= Discordo fortemente; 2= Discordo um pouco 3= Não concordo nem discordo; 4= Concordo um pouco 5= Concordo fortemente							
Vejo-me como uma pessoa							
1. Reserv	ada *						
	1	2	3	4	5		
	0	0	0	0	0		
2. Que te	nte a con	ıfıar *					
	2. Que tente a confiar * 1 2 0 0 (3	4	5			
	0	0	0	0	0		
3. Tende	ncialmen	te preguiç	osa*				
	1	2	3	4	5		
	0	0	0	0	0		
4. Relaxa	da, que li	ida bem c	om o stre	ss *			
	1	2	3	4	5		
	0	0	0	0	0		
5. Com p	oucos int	teresses a	artisticos '	ŧ			
	1	2	3	4	5		
	0	0	0	0	0		

5. Com p	oucos int	teresses a	rtisticos	k	
	1	2	3	4	5
	0	0	0	0	0
6 Q 14					
6. Sociav	el e extro	vertida *			
	1	2	3	4	5
	0	0	0	0	0
7. Que te	nde a crit	ticar os ou	ıtros *		
	1	2	3	4	5
	0	0	0	0	0



8. Perfeci	onista					
	1	2	3	4	5	
	0	0	0	0	0	
9 Que fic	a parvos	a com fac	vilidade *			
J. QUE IIC	1	2	3	4	5	
	0	0	0	0	0	
10. Com 1	uma ima	ainacão n	auita aatin	vo *		
TO. CONT	1 1	2	3	4	5	
	0	0	0	0	0	
ANTERIOR	SEGUI	NTE				
Nunca envie pal	avras-passe a	través dos Goog	le Forms.			

Sensações num Café em Realidade Virtual

*Obrigatório

Na experiência que acabou de fazer, havia uma chávena de café em cima da mesa. Focando-se somente no sentido da visão imagine uma experiência sensorial em que interage esse café. Está a ver o café.

Na seguinte imagem estão representados dois circulos. Um dos circulos representa-o a si ("self"), e o outro circulo representa o café ("other").



Com base na experiência sensorial que imaginou, escolha a imagem que melhor representa a relação entre si e o café *

- 01.
- O 2.
- O 3.
- 04.
- 0 5.
- 0 6.
- 07.

ANTERIOR SEGUINTE

Virt	saçõ ual	ões r	num	Café	em	Real	idad	e	
*Obrigatór	rio								
Com base no que sente neste momento, em que medida concorda ou discorda com as seguintes afirmações.									
1= Discor	1= Discordo fortemente a 7= Concordo fortemente								
1. Reco	omenda	aria este	e café a	outros	*		_		
	0	2	•	4	°	•	0		
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
2. Fala	ria posi	itivame	nte des	te café	*				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
3. Volt	aria a e	ste cafe	é *						
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
*Obviout									
Perfil	tório								
Perfil Géne	tório I Pro *								
Perfil Géne O Fe	tório I PrO * eminino								
Perfil Géne O Fe	tório I ro * eminino Iasculino								
Perfil Géne O Fe O M Idade	tório I I TO * eminino lasculino e *								
Perfil Géne O Fe O M Idade	tório I eminino lasculino e * 3-20								
Perfil Géne O Fe O M Idade O 18 O 21	tório I ro * eminino lasculino e * 3-20 1 - 25								
Perfil Géne O Fe O M Idade O 18 O 21 O 26	tório ro * eminino lasculino e * 3-20 1 - 25 5-30								
Perfil Géne O Fe M Idade 11 21 22 23	tório ro * eminino lasculino e * 3-20 1 - 25 5-30 1 - 35								
Perfil Géne O M Idade 11 22 31 32	tório ro * eminino lasculino e * 3-20 1 - 25 5-30 1 - 35 5 - 40								
Perfil Géne O Fe M Idade 0 18 21 22 31 32 34 41	tório ro * eminino lasculino e * 3-20 1 - 25 5-30 1 - 35 5 - 40 1-45								
Perfil Géne O Fé M Idade 18 21 226 31 36 41 46	tório ro * eminino lasculino e * 8-20 1 - 25 5-30 1 - 35 5 - 40 1-45 5-50								
Perfil Géne O Fe M Idade 18 21 26 31 26 31 46 +5	tório ro * eminino lasculino e * 3-20 1 - 25 5-30 1 - 35 5-40 1-45 5-50 50 -								

Educação *
O Básica (9º ano)
O Secundária (12ºano)
O Licenciatura / Bacharelato
O Mestrado / Pós-Graduação / Dourotamento
O Outra:
ANTERIOR SUBMETER
Nunca envie palavras-passe através dos Google Forms.
Este conteúdo não foi criado nem aprovado pela Google. <u>Denunciar abuso</u> - <u>Termos de Utilização</u>

Google Formulários